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This version of our report is 4 free translation from Lhe original, which was prepared in Spanish. All possible care has been taken
to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of indcrpretation of
information, views or upinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.

Independent auditor s report on the consolidated annual
accounts

To the shareholders of CaixaBank, S.A.;
Report on the consolidated annual accounts
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of CaixaBank, S.A. (the Parent company) and its
subsidiaries (the Group}, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2019, and the income
statement, statement of other comprehensive income, statement of total changes in equity, cash flow
statement and related notes, all conselidated, for the year then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects,
the equity and financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019, as well as its financial
performance and cash flows, all consolidated, for the year then ended, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU) and other
pravisions of the financial reparting framework applicable in Spain.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our
responsibiliies under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated annual accounis section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those relating
to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts in Spain, in
accordance with legisiation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services
other than those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen
that, in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary
independence such that it has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have cbtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consalidated annual accounts of the current period. These matiers were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

.....................................................................................................................
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Credit risk impairment and impairment arising
from foreclosures

Determining credit risk impairment and
impairment arising from foreclosures is one of
the most significant and complex estimates in
the preparation of the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts, which entails a
process invalving judgements and estimates,
as well as mass data processing, performed on
the basis of the different types of these assets.
It has therefore been a key matter in our audit.

The evaluation of credit risk impairment is
based on both individual and collective
estimates of covers and, in this case, by using
the Group's different internal models based
on the different portfalios, or segments of
credit risk.

The valuation models employed require a high
level of judgement and estimation to determine
expected credit risk impairment losses,
considering aspects such as:

° Classification of ioan portfolios based on
risk and asset type.

» Staging of impaired assets or those
showing a significant increase in risk.

* Use of assumptions that have a
significant impact an credit risk
provisions recognised, such as
macroeconomic scenarios and related
probability of occurrence, expected life
of the loan and existence of
prapayments, among others.

CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

Our work has included the participation of
internal specialists in credit risk models and
valuations of real estate assets arising from
foreclasures and has focused on analyzing,
evaluating and verifying internal control, as well
as performing tests of detail on the estimation of
impairment.

As regards the internal control system, we have
carried out the following procedures, among
others:

* Verification of the comptiance of wark
policies and procedures and approved
internal modeis with applicable regulatory
requirements and the Group's governance
model.

. Review of the periodic assessment of risks
and follow-up alerts by Group
management, as well as the actual
perfermance of the periodic review of
borrower files to monitor classification and,
where applicable, recognise impairment.

» Review of the process of monitoring and
updating appraisals that support the value
of collaterals related to loan operations and
real estate assets, furnished by different
valuation firms and agencies.
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CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

. Building of model parameters, such as We have also performed the following tests of
probability of impairment and impairment  detail:
loss.
Review of methodology and verification of
. The realisable value of guarantees the main models with respect to: i)

retated to granted loans on the basis of
the information and/or appraisal vaiue
provided by different valuation firms. In
some cases, when the assets are of low
exposure and risk, statistics
methodologies are used to update
appraisals.

The estimation of the impairment of real
estate assets arising from the lending
business, awarded to the Group through
dation in payment, purchase or a court
proceeding, is based on internal
methodologies for the evaluation of the
recoverable amount of this type of assets,
estimating fair value adjusted for costs to sell
and including a discount on the reference
value based on the Group's historical
experience in the sale of similar assets. Fair
value is estimated using the information
and/or appraised value furnished by valuation
firms and agencies.

Group management periodically recalibrates
its interna! models to optimise their predictive
capacity. If applicable, the variables or
algorithms employed are updated and
backtesting processes are carried out to
compare expected loss estimates with actual
data.

See Notes 2, 3.3, 14, 20, 21 y 40.2 to the
accompanying consolidated annual accounts
regarding credit risk and impairment arising
from foreclosures, and see Notes 36 y 39 to
the accompanying consolidated annual
accounts regarding profit and loss during the
year.

caiculation and segmentation methods,; ii)
loan staging criteria; iii) estimation of
expected loss parameters (probabifity of
impairment and realisable value of
collateral); iv) reliability and consistency of
historical and prospective information
employed; and v) recalibration and
backtesting of the internal models.

Review of the functioning of the calculation
engine and recalculation of collective
provisions in credit risk impairment
eslimation models for certain loan
portfolios; comparison with Group
management's findings.

Review of a sample of borrower files
analysed individually in order to assess
classification, recognition and the
recognition of any impairment losses.

Review of the methodology used to
estimate sales costs, sales periods and
reductions of guarantees, to estimate
impairment arising from foreclosures.

Review of a sample of appraisals to check
that they comply with prevailing legislation,
are reasonable and are up to date.

Evaluation of whether the breakdown in the
consolidated annual accounts is sufficient
and adequate.
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Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Evaluating recoverability of deferred tax assets
is a complex exercise that requires a high level
of judgement and estimation and therefore we
consider that Company management's
evaluation of the capacity to recover deferred
tax assets is a key audit matter.

The Group’s policy is to recognise deferred
tax assets only when it is considered likely
that sufficient taxable income will be obtained
in the future to recover them.

In this process, Management takes into
account specific and complex aspects to
assess both recognition and the subsequent
capacily to recover the deferred tax assets
recognised, based on the Group's financial
projections and business plans, supported by
defined assumptions that are projected over a
time horizon, and considering tax legislation
applicable at all times.

Management also has the deferred {ax asset
recovery model reviewed by an independent
extemal expert and periodic backtesting is
carried out to assess model predictability.

See Notes 2 and 25 to the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts.

CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

As a result of our testing of calculations and
estimates of credit risk impairment and of the
impairment of the real estate assets arising from
foreclosures, we have not identified any
differences, above a reasonable range, in the
amounts racognised in the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts.

Assisted by our tax specialists, we have
documented our understanding and our review of
the estimation process carried out by Group
management, focusing our procedures on aspects
such as:

. Analysis of the tax strategy planned by
Group management for the recoverabhility of
deferred tax assets.

. Review of the information used to draw up
the business plan, as well as the economic
and financial assumptions considered, and
of the fulfilment of those assumptions and
of the business plans prepared by means of
backtesting.

. Review of the assumptions emploved in
estimates made to calculate temporary
differences, to check that they are
complete, suitable and usable in the
stipulated periods.

. Follow-up of the recoverability of deferred
tax assets and of the review performed by
the Group's independent tax expert.

» Review of the reasonableness of the
amounts of deferred tax assets deemed to
be monetisable.

As a result of these proceduras, we have obtained
sufficient audit evidence to corroborate the
estimates made by Group management of the
recoverability of deferred tax assets.
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Provisions for taxes, lawsuits and regulatory
proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Group
may become invalved in administrative, court
or arbitration proceedings of a tax, legal or
regulatory nature.

In addition, there are other situations that
have not yet resulted in any kind of judicial
proceeding but which, however, have led to
the recognition of provisions, such as aspects
related to conduct with and compensation for
customers.

In general, these proceedings end after a long
period of time as they are complex processes
under the legislation applicable to the
jurisdiction in which the Group operates.

Group management, when deemed fit,
recognises a provision for the outlay
considered to be likely based on estimates
made, applying prudent calculation
procedures consistent with the uncertainty
inherent in the obligations covered. Both the
determination of the forecast results of the
proceedings and the evaluation of the
economic effect are complex and uncertain as
regards the outcome and/or final amount.

Consequently, the recognition of provisions for
litigation is one of the areas requiring the
highest degree of judgement and estimation.

See Notes 2 and 23 ta the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts.

CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiarics

Our review of the estimation of provisions for tax,
legal and regulatory proceedings carried out by
Group management and our analysis and
assessment of internal control aver the process
consistad of the following procedures:

° Understanding of the litigation classification
and provisioning policy in accordance with
applicable accounting legisiation.

. Analysis of the main individual and, if
applicable, collective lawsuits.

) Obtainment of a confirmation letter from
CaixaBank, S.A. legal counsel to verify
their assessment of the expected outcome
of the litigation, all the information, the
correct recognition of the provision and any
potential liabilities omitted.

. Follow-up of developments in tax
inspections in progress and analysis of the
expected outcome of the most significant
tax proceedings and of any contingencies
related to the fulfilment of tax obligations
for all periods open to inspection, assisted
by our tax area specialists.

. Analysis of the recognition and estimation
of, and movements in, accounting
provisions.

o Examination of communications with

regulators and analysis of regulatory
inspections carried out and in progress.

. Update, to the date of this report, of any
additional information that might affect the
claims, litigation and/or contingencies in
progress at December 31, 2019.



pwc

CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

Specifically for the provisions for customer
compensation, our procedures focused on the
following:

¢ Understanding of the control environment,
assessment and verification of the controls
associated with the calculation and review of
the provision for customer compensation,
including the assumpticn process and
approval, and findings of the estimates made.

¢ Assessment of the methodology and
assumptions used by Group management,
checking that they are in line with market
practice.

* Sensitivity analysis of model results to
possible changes in key assumptions.

Qur findings show that, in general, Group
management's judgements and estimates when
avaluating this type of provisions are supported
and reasoned on the basis of available

information.
Measurement of insurance coniract liabilities
The CaixaBank Group engages in the life
insurance business through its subsidiary We have gained an understanding of the process
VidaCaixa, S.A.U. de Seguros y Reaseguros, for estimating and recognising insurance contract
selling products basically in the Group's bank liabilities that has included an assessment of the
branch network. design and effectiveness of internal control
related to this area, including the most relevant
The Group recognises the liabilities information system controls. Our procedures
associated with these insurance policies in carried out in association with our team of

accordance with IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts”  actuarial specialists focused on aspects such as:
which, in some cases, requires the use of

judgements and estimates by Group *  Understanding of the insurance contract
management to properly measure insurance liability calcuiation method, based on the
contract liabilities, and has therefore been a nature of the products, as well as the

key matter in our audit. consistent application of the method with

respect to the previous year.

s Verification of the proper recognition of
insurance contract liabilities and changes
during the period.
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In particular, in the case of savings insurance,
the Group’s management calculates the
mathematical reserve using complex actuarial
techniques based on critical calculation
assumptions such as the technical interest
rate, cost assumptions and biometric
assumptions, in accordance with applicable
accounting legislation.

See Notes 2 and 17 to the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts..

Assessment of the control environment for
information systems

The Group's operations and business
continuity, by nature, and particularly the
process followed to prepare financial and
accounting information, rely significantly on the
information systems that form part of its
technological structure, so an adequate control
environment is critical to assure the Group’s
business continuity and the correct processing
of information, and has therefore been a key
matter in our audit.

Additionally, as the systems become more
complex, the risks associated with information
technologies, the organisation and thus the
information processed, increase.

In this regard, Group management has put in
place the procedures deemed fit in the
information system environment.

The effectiveness of the general internal
control framework for the information systems
is a key aspect to support the Group's
operations, as well as the bookkeeping,
account closing and consolidation process.

CaixaBank, §.A. and subsidiaries

Review of the completeness and
reconciliation of the basic data employed in
the technical actuarial calculations supporting
insurance contract liabilities.

Verification of the applicaticn of interest rate,
cost and biometric assumptions in line with
applicable legistation and the Group's
experience.

Recalculation of the mathematical reserve for
policies selected using sampling procedures.

As a result of the insurance contract liability
measurement procedures described, we have not
identified any differences, above a reasonable
range, in the amounts recognised in the
accompanying consolidated annual accounts.

Assisted by our information system and process
specialists, our work has consisted of:

Evaluation of the control environment
associated with the information systems
and applications that support the Group's
operations, as well as the recognition and
processing of the Group's accounting
close. In this context, we have completed
procedures to assess aspects such as the
organisation and governance of the
Information Systems Area, controls of
application maintenance and development,
physical and logical security, and system
operation in the production environment.
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In this context, it is necessary to assess
aspects such as the organisation and
governance of the Information Systems Area,
controls of application maintenance and
development, physical and logical security,
and system operation.

CaixaBank, 8.A. and subsidiaries

We have carried out the following main
procedures on the principal information
systems identified and deemed relevant {o
the most significant business processes,
previously defined, which support the
Group's operations, and to the financial
information generation process, so as to
analyse the integrity, accuracy and
availability of the information:

Review of cantrals in connection
with aspects derived from
application operation, development,
maintenance and security, as wall
as the definitions of policies on user
profiles, access and segregation of
functions of the users that access
these systems.

- Understanding of the key business

processes, identification of
automatic controls in the
applications that support them and
validation of the controls.

As regards the accounting and closing process in
each of the Group's information sysiems, we
have carried out the following additional
procedures:

Understanding and review of the process
for generating manual and automatic
account entries identified as non-standard,
representing a risk.

Extraction, validation of completeness and
filtering of account entries and analysis of
their reasonableness.

Understanding and recalculation of certain
calculations made by Group management
and deemed to have the greatest impact,
particularly those relating to the
apportionment of interest on financial
products (loans, credit lines and deposits)
and of fee and commission income.
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CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

The results of cur procedures were, in general,
satisfactory and we identified no relevant aspects
that could affect the accompanying consolidated
annual accounts.

Other information: Consolidated management report

Other information comprises only the consolidated management report for the 2019 vear, the
formulation of which is the responsibility of the Parent company’s directors and does not form an
integral part of the consolidated annual accounts,

Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not cover the consclidated management
report. Qur responsibility regarding the information contained in the consolidated management report
is defined in the legislation governing the audit practice, which establishes two distinct levels in this
regard:

a) A specific level applicable to the consolidated statement of non-financial information and certain
information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as defined in article 35.2 b) of
Audit Act 22/2015, that consists of verifying solely that the aforementioned information has been
pravided in the management report or, if approptiate, that the consolidated management repart
includes the pertinent reference in the manner provided by the legislation and if not, we are
required to report that fact.

b) A general level applicable to the rest of the information inctuded in the consolidated
management report that consists of evaluating and reporting on the consistency between that
information and the consoclidated annual accounts as a result of our knowledge of the Group
obtained during the audit of the aforementioned financial statements and does not include
information different to that obtained as evidence during our audit, as well as evaluating and
reporting on whether the content and presentation of that part of the consolidated management
report is in accordance with applicable regulations. If, based an the work we have performed,
we conclude that material misstatements exist, we are required to report that fact.

On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have ascertained that the information
mentioned in paragraph a) above has been provided in the consolidated management report and that
the rest of the information contained in the consolidated management report is consistent with that
contained in the consolidated annual accounts for the 2019 year, and its content and presentation are
in accordance with the applicable regulations.
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CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

Responsibility of the directors and the Audit and Control Committee for the consolidated
annual accounts

The Parent company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consclidated
annual accounts, such that they fairly present the consolidated equity, financial position and financial
performance of the Group, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union and other provisions of the financial reporting framewark applicable to the
Group in Spain, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent company's directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Parent company’s Audit and Control Commiittee is responsible for overseeing the process of
preparation and presentation of the consolidated annual accounts.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated annual accounts

Our objactives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasaonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasanably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with legislation gaverning the audit practice in Spain, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scapticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatemant of the consolidated annual accounts,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may invalve collusion, fargery, intentianal omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control,

10
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CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
gstimates and related disclosures made by the Parent company’s directors.

™ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent company s directors” use of the going concem
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual
accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of aur auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consoclidated annual accounts,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

® Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group ta express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts.
We are respensible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely respansible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Parent company’s Audit and Control Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Parent company’s Audit and Control Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we
communicate with the Audit and Centrol Committee those matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Parent company’s Audit and Control Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual
accounts of the current period and are therefore the key audit matiers.

We describe these matiers in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter.

11
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CaixaBank, S.A. and subsidiaries

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
R?—:port to the Parent comBény's Audit and Control Committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the Parent
company's Audit and Control Committee dated February 21, 2020.

Appointment period -

The General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting held on April 6, 2017 appointed us as auditors of the
Group for a period of three years, as from the year ended December 31, 2018.

Services provided

Services other than audit services that have been provided to the Group are described in Note 35 of
the notes to the accompanying consolidated annual accounts.

PricewaterhouseCaopers Auditores, S.L. {S0242)

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AUDITORES, S.L.
Qriginal in Spanish signed by
Ramon Aznar Pascua (15414)

February 21, 2020

12



CAIXABANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
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B Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
(Millions of euros)

NOTE  31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*) 31-12-2017 (*)
Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 10 15,110 19,158 20,155
Financial assets held for trading 11 7.370 9.810 10.597
Derivatives 6,194 8,707 8,162
Equitv instruments 457 348 403
Debt securities 719 755 2,032
Financial assets not designated for trading compulsorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 12 427 704
Equitv instruments 198 232
Debt securities 63 145
Loans and advances 166 327
Customers 166 327
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 1 6,500
Equity instruments 4,299
Debt securities 1 2,101
Loans and advances 100
Credit institutions 100
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 13 18,371 21,888
Eauitv instruments 2.407 3.565
Debt securities 15,964 18,323
Available-for-sale financial assets 1 69,555
Equity instruments 2,883
Debt securities 66.672
Financial assets at amortised cost 14 244,702 242,582
Debt securities 17.389 17.060
Loans and advances 227.313 225,522
Central banks 6 5
Credit institutions 5.153 7.550
Customers 222,154 217.967
Loans and receivables 1 226,273
Debt securities 2,576
Loans and advances 223,697
Central banks 5
Credit institutions 7.374
Customers 216,318
Held-to-maturity investments 1 11,085
Derivatives - Hedge accounting 15 2,133 2,056 2,597
Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 15 106 232 11
Investments in joint ventures and associates 16 3,941 3,879 6,224
Joint ventures 166 168 187
Associates 3.775 3,711 6.037
Assets under the insurance business 17 72,683 61,688 275
Tangible assets 18 7.282 6.022 6.480
Property, plant and equipment 4,915 3,210 3,076
For own use 4,915 3,210 3,076
Investment property 2,367 2,812 3,404
Intangible assets 19 3.839 3,848 3,805
Goodwill 3,051 3,051 3,051
Other intangible assets 788 797 754
Tax assets 11,113 11,264 11,005
Current tax assets 1.277 1.223 800
Deferred tax assets 25 9,836 10,041 10,205
Other assets 20 2,982 2,176 2,505
Inventories 54 57 878
Remaining other assets 2,928 2,119 1.627
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 21 1,354 1,239 6,069
TOTAL ASSETS 391,414 386,546 383,136
Memorandum items
Loan commitments given 26 71,132 63,953 61,190
Financial guarantees given 26 5,982 5,735 6,015
Other commitments given 26 21,226 19,339 19,461
Financial instruments loaned or delivered as collateral with the right of sale or pledge
Financial assets held for trading 165 469 1,053
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 2,544 2,801
Available-for-sale financial assets 7,383
Financial assets at amortised cost 93,053 97,767
Loans and receivables 103,155
Held-to-maturity investments 3,600
Tangible assets acquired under a lease 18 1,495

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1)



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
LIABILITIES
(Millions of euros)

NOTE 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*) 31-12-2017 (*)|
Financial liabilities held for trading 11 2,338 9,015 8,605
Derivatives 1,867 8,616 7,861
Short positions 471 399 744
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 1 8,241
Deposits 8,241
Customers 8,241
Other financial liabilities 1
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 22 283,975 282,460 280,898
Deposits 241,735 247,640 246,804
Central banks 14,418 29,406 31,681
Credit institutions 6,238 8,034 11,515
Customers 221,079 210,200 203,608
Debt securities issued 33,648 29,244 29,919
Other financial liabilities 8,592 5,576 4,175
Derivatives - Hedge accounting 15 515 793 793
Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 15 1,474 1,244 1,410
Liabilities under the insurance business 17 70,807 61,519 50,999
Provisions 23 3,624 3,079 3,491
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 521 458 598
Other long-term employee benefits 1,710 1,072 1,223
Pending legal issues and tax litigation 676 714 803
Commitments and guarantees given 220 355 357
Other provisions 497 480 510
Tax liabilities 1,296 1,351 1,416
Current tax liabilities 238 236 194
Deferred tax liabilities 25 1,058 1,115 1,222
Other liabilities 20 2,162 2,639 2,335
Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale 71 82 82
TOTAL LIABILITIES 366,263 362,182 358,270
Memorandum items
Subordinated liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 22 5,461 5,456 5,054

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

EQUITY
(Millions of euros)

NOTE 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*) 31-12-2017 (*)|
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 24 26,247 25,384 24,722
Capital 5,981 5,981 5,981
Share premium 12,033 12,033 12,033
Other equity items 24 19 10
Retained earnings 7,795 7,300 6,038
Other reserves (1,281) (1,505) (594)
(-) Treasury shares (10) (10) (12)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Parent 1,705 1,985 1,684
(-) Interim dividends 6 (419) (418)
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 24 (1,125) (1,049) (290)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (1,568) (1,336) (402)
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans (474) (396) (402)
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates (83) (75)
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive
income (1,011) (865)
Failed fair value hedges of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes other
comprehensive income [hedged instrument] (58)
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income [hedging instrument] 58
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 443 287 112
Foreign currency exchange 4 2 74
Hedging derivatives. Reserve of cash flow hedges [effective portion] (34) 22 16
Fair value changes of debt securities measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive
income 486 317
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates (13) (54) (29)
Available-for-sale financial assets 51
Debt instruments 475
Equity instruments (424)
MINORITY INTERESTS (non-controlling interests) 24 29 29 434
Accumulated other comprehensive income (17)
Other items 29 29 451
TOTAL EQUITY 25,151 24,364 24,866
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 391,414 386,546 383,136

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Millions of euros)

NOTE 31-12-2019 31-12-2018 (*) 31-12-2017 (*)
Interest income 28 7,055 6,946 6,971
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income (1) 1,966 1,856 2,082
Financial assets at amortised cost (2) 4,972 4,902 4,752
Other interest income 117 188 137
Interest expense 29 (2,104) (2,039) (2,225)
NET INTEREST INCOME 4,951 4,907 4,746
Dividend income 30 163 146 127
Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method 16 425 826 526
Fee and commission income 31 2,940 2,898 2,760
Fee and commission expenses 31 (342) (315) (261)
Gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit
or loss, net 32 240 126 169
Financial assets at amortised cost 2 s
Other financial assets and liabilities 238 s
Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 32 139 40 47
Other gains or losses 139 40_
Gains/(losses) on financial assets not designated for trading compulsorily measured at fair value through
profit or loss, net 32 (74) 61
Other gains or losses (74) el
Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net 32 45 39 (9)
Exchange differences (gain/loss), net (52) 12 76
Other operating income 33 655 628 698
Other operating expenses 33 (1,041) (1,152) (1,128)
Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts 33 884 939 823
Expenses from liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts 33 (328) (388) (352)
GROSS INCOME 8,605 8,767 8,222
Administrative expenses (5,204) (4,254) (4,150)
Personnel expenses 34 (3,956) (2,958) (2,981)
Other administrative expenses 35 (1,248) (1,296) (1,169)
18 and
Depreciation and amortisation 19 (546) (404) (427)
Provisions or reversal of provisions 23 (186) (441) (762)
Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or
net profit or loss due to a change 36 (425) (126) (949)
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income @b
Financial assets at amortised cost (425) (raf

Available-for-sale financial assets _ (144)
Loans and receivables R (805)
1.8 and
Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on investments in joint ventures and associates. 16 (61) 5
Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on non-financial assets 37 (106) (49) (170)
Tangible assets (80) (17) (53)
Intangible assets (25) (25) (70)
Other (1) (7) (47)
16 and
Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets, net 38 55 (476) (115)
Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss 7 442
Profit/(loss) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as
discontinued operations 39 (116) (149) 2
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2,077 2,807 2,098
Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations 25 (369) (712) (378)
PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 1,708 2,095 1,720
Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinued operations 1 (55) (2)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 1,708 2,040 1,719
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests) 3 55 35
Attributable to owners of the parent 1,705 1,985 1,684

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).

(1) Also includes in 2019 and 2018 the interest on available-for-sale financial assets (IAS 39) linked to the insurance business and in 2017 the interest on available-for-sale

financial assets (IAS 39).

(2) Also includes in 2019 and 2018 interest on loans and receivables (IAS 39) of the insurance business and in 2017 interest on loans and receivables (IAS 39).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART A)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Millions of euros)

2019 2018 (*) 2017 (*)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 1,708 2,040 1,719
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (76) (715) (118)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (232) (517) (4)
Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans (124) (43) (6)
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates (8) (64)
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income (145) (455)
Failed fair value hedges of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in equity
[hedged instrument] (58)
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in equity
[hedging instrument] 58
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 45 45 2
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 156 (198) (114)
Foreign currency exchange 2 (87) 86
Translation gains/(losses) taken to equity 2 (229) 86
Transferred to profit or loss 142
Cash flow hedges (effective portion) (54) 15 1
Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity 9 (60) 41
Transferred to profit or loss (63) 75 (40)
Debt instruments classified as fair value financial assets with changes in other comprehensive
income 325 (114)
Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity 523 7
Transferred to profit or loss (198) (121)
Available-for-sale financial assets (64)
Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity (111)
Transferred to profit or loss 47
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates 41 (154)
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (158) (12) 17
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,632 1,325 1,601
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests) 3 76 61
Attributable to owners of the parent 1,629 1,249 1,540

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1).



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART B)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Millions of euros)

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT MINORITY INTERESTS
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
PROFIT/(LOSS)

ATTRIBUTABLE ACCUMULAT ACCUMULAT

LESS: TO THE LESS: ED OTHER ED OTHER

SHARE OTHER RETAINED OTHER TREASURY OWNERS OF INTERIM COMPREHEN COMPREHEN

NOTE CAPITAL PREMIUNV EQUITY EARNINGS RESERVES SHARES THE PARENT DIVIDENDS SIVE INCOME SIVE INCOME
OPENING BALANCE AT 31-12-2016 5,981 12,033 7 5,239 (717) (14) 1,047 (177) 127 29 23,555
Effects of changes in accounting policies 220 233 (208) 245
Pension obligations 1 220 233 (208) 245
BALANCE AT 31-12-2016 5,981 12,033 7 5,459 (484) (14) 1,047 (177) (81) 29 23,800
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,684 (144) 26 35 1,601
OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 3 579 (110) 2 (1,047) (241) (65) (43) 387 (535)
Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders) (359) (418) (1) (778)
Purchase of treasury shares 24 (0)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares 24 2 3

Transfers among components of equity 935 (1,047) 177 (65) (43) 42
Other increase/(decrease) in equity 3 3 (110) 346 240
BALANCE AT 31-12-2017 5,981 12,033 10 6,038 (594) (12) 1,684 (418) (290) (17) 451 24,866
Effects of changes in accounting policies 1 (538) (23) (4) 9 (556)
First application of IFRS 9 1 (538) (23) (4) 9 (556)
OPENING BALANCE AT 01-01-2018 5,981 12,033 10 6,038 (1,132) (12) 1,684 (419) (313) (21) 460 24,309
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,985 (736) 21 55 1,325
OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 9 1,262 (373) 2 (1,684) (486) (1,270)
Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders) 6 (478) (419) (5) (902)
Purchase of treasury shares 24 (2) (2)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares 24 4 4
Transfers among components of equity 1,715 (1,684) 419 (450)

Other increase/(decrease) in equity 9 25 (373) (31) (370)

BALANCE AT 31-12-2018 5981 12,033 19 7,300 (1,505) (10) 1,985 (419) (1,049) 29 24,364
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (PART B)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Millions of euros)

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT MINORITY INTERESTS
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

PROFIT/(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE ACCUMULAT ACCUMULATE
OTHER LESS: TO THE LESS: ED OTHER D OTHER
SHARE EQUITY RETAINED OTHER TREASURY OWNERS OF INTERIM COMPREHEN COMPREHEN
CAPITAL PREMIUM ITEMS EARNINGS RESERVES SHARES THE PARENT  DIVIDENDS SIVE INCOME SIVE INCOME TOTAL
BALANCE AT 31-12-2018 5,981 12,033 19 7,300 (1,505) (10) 1,985 (419) (1,049) 29 24,364
OPENING BALANCE AT 01-01-2019 5,981 12,033 19 7,300 (1,505) (10) 1,985 (419) (1,049) 29 24,364
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 1,705 (76) 3 1,632
OTHER CHANGES IN EQUITY 5 495 224 (1,985) 419 (3) (845)
Dividends (or remuneration to shareholders) 6 (598) (3) (601)
Purchase of treasury shares 24 (8) (8)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares 24 8 8
Transfers among components of equity 1,566 (1,985) 419
Other increase/(decrease) in equity 5 (473) 224 (244)

BALANCE AT 31-12-2019 5,981 12,033 24 7,795 (1,281) (10) 1,705 (1,125) 29 25,151
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (INDIRECT METHOD)
(Millions of euros)

Note 2019 2018 (**) 2017 (**)
A) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (6,453) (4,878) 6,554
Profit/(loss) for the period (*) 1,708 2,040 1,719
Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities 4,495 3,518 4,501
Depreciation and amortisation 546 404 427
Other adjustments 3,949 3,114 4,074
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets (8,780) (9,438) 3,312
Financial assets held for trading (1,743) (169) 3,290
Financial assets not designated for trading compulsorily measured at fair value through
profit or loss 277 118 0
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (1) 0 (2,099)
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income 4,016 (1,056) 0
Available-for-sale financial assets 0 (713)
Financial assets at amortised cost (5,879) (9,258) 0
Loans and receivables 0 439
Other operating assets (5,450) 927 2,395
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities (3,787) (494) (3,132)
Financial liabilities held for trading 1,333 410 (1,884)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 1 0 2,264
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (4,687) 1,996 (511)
Other operating liabilities (434) (2,900) (3,001)
Income tax (paid)/received (89) (504) 154
B) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (117) 5,301 (1,378)
Payments: (822) (1,219) (4,056)
Tangible assets (525) (512) (358)
Intangible assets (232) (224) (227)
Investments in joint ventures and associates (5) (64) (32)
Subsidiaries and other business units 0 (354) (645)
Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale (60) (65) (31)
Held-to-maturity investments 0 (2,763)
Proceeds: 705 6,520 2,678
Tangible assets 340 798 153
Intangible assets 8 5 0
Investments in joint ventures and associates 9 1,302 2
Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 348 4,415 1,173
Other proceeds related to investing activities 0 0 1,350
C) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,521 (1,416) 1,721
Payments: (2,869) (8,006) (6,157)
Dividends 6 (602) (902) (777)
Subordinated liabilities 0 (2,072) (1,302)
Purchase of own equity instruments (8) (2) 0
Other payments related to financing activities (2,259) (5,030) (4,078)
Proceeds: 5,390 6,590 7,878
Subordinated liabilities 22 0 2,250 2,150
Disposal of own equity instruments 8 4 2
Other proceeds related to financing activities 5,382 4,336 5,726
D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 1 (4) (2)
E) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D) (4,048) (997) 6,895
F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 19,158 20,155 13,260
G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (E+F) 15,110 19,158 20,155
Cash 2,700 2,468 2,177
Cash equivalents at central banks 11,836 15,783 17,092
Other financial assets 574 907 886
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 15,110 19,158 20,155
(*) Of which: Interest received 7,080 7,057 7,425
Of which: Interest paid 1,951 2,100 2,404
Of which: Dividends received 578 456 535

(**) Presented for comparison purposes only.



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CAIXABANK GROUP AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Index of explanatory notes Page
1. Corporate information, basis of presentation and other iNformation ...........c.cooiiiiiiiiii i e 14
2. Accounting POliCies aNd MEASUNEMENT DASES....c.uiiiiiiiiiiieee ettt citeeeetee e e st e e e ettt e estteeeesataeeeebseeesbaeeasssaeeeasbeseansaseanssseesssesessseesnssreens 25
R S N e T =0T 00 1T o APPSR UPPPPP 56
4. Capital adEQUACY MANGZEMENT ...eiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e ettt e ettt e e sttt e e s bt e e e sabeeesateeesabaeeesabeeesasbeeeeasteeeassseesaasaeesstaeesssbeeesabeeesnnsaeennns 126
Vo] oTdeY o Ja - o o I o) il o] o] {1 ARUU T PP PRRRUUUPSPPSRRRIRY 129
6. Shareholder remuneration and EarnNiNGS PEI SNATE ......cccuuiieiiiii it e e et e e e e tae e e e taeeeeabeeesbaeeeasbeeesbaeesnsseeeannes 130
7. Business combinations, acquisition and disposal of ownership interests in subsidiaries.......c..ccoovervierinieinie e, 131
8. SEEMENT INTOIMALION ... ettt ettt st e sa et et e s e bt s bt e s a bt e s be e sab e e saseeabeesabeeabeeease e seeeabeennseeaseesnneenneesnneennne 132
9. Remuneration of key ManagemeENnt PEISONNEL .........cocuiiiiiiii ettt e e e tae e e et e e e e ebeeeeetteeesbaeeeeabaeessseeeessseeeenbasesnsseeennns 135
10. Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand dePOSItS.........cuiiiiiiiieiiiiciieeeee e et 142
11. Financial assets and liabilities held fOr trading .........cooiiiiiiiii et e e e st et e e e e be e e e s abaeeerabeeesabaeaenareeens 143
12. Financial assets not designated for trading compulsorily measured at fair value through profit or l0ss......cc.ccceeveviieveeriennncnne 145
13. Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive INCOME .......cooiiirierieriiieee e 146
14. Financial assets @t @mMOItiSEO COSE ....cuuiiiriiiiitiiiertt ettt sttt et sb et e bt e b sb e b e e bt et e s bt et e e bt e b e sbe e bt sbeenesreennes 150
15. Derivatives - Hedge accounting (assets and labilities) ..........coiiuiiiiiiiiiciiic et eeab e e e ta e e e aaee s 154
16. Investments in JOINT VENTUIES @N0 @SSOCIAtES ....iiiuiiiiiiiieiiiieesiiee ettt e rtee ettt e e st e e s site e e s sbbe e e s beeeessbeeesabeeeaasteeenssaeesnsbeeessssessnsseeens 159
17. Assets and liabilities under the iNSUraNCe BUSINESS.........cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 164
S T 0= ] oL T Y=Y TSR 168
RS B 10 = a T=dT o] TR T Y] £ USRRPR 170
20. Other assets and other liabilities ..........couiviiiiiiiiiiii e bbb 173
21. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for Sale ...t 174
22, FINANCIal TADIITIES. .. ccuiiiiiiiiiiciic e e e bbb s 175
B2 T o oY T o] o TP P RO P P PROPRPP 180
B o U1 Y T P TP P PP RUPPPTOPPPROPNY 188
25, TAX POSITION Letttiieiiiiiiteee ettt et e e sttt e e e s e bbbt e e eeeseaasbbaaeeesesssssaaeeeesasasasaeeese s ssbseaaeeesaasasesaaeesesasnneeaeeesannssbaaeeeeenanrrneeen 192
26. Guarantees and contingent COMMITMENTS GIVEN ....uiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e sb e e e stee e e sabaeessabeeessteeesssseesssbaesasseesssnes 196
B @ o T=Y Y =4 Ty Tor= Y gL o ol [ T ] -SSR 198
B T L L0=T =TSy T T o 4= PP PPTOPRRP 203
29, INTEIEST EXPENSE . ueieiiiieeiee ettt e e esrettt et e e e s stb et e e eeesaatbbaeeeeesasssaeaaeeesesasssaaaaeeesansasesaeeeeesaasbbeaeeeesaaababaaeeee e e s baeaeeeeeenartbaaeeeeesarrraaaes 204
30. DIVIAENA INCOME ...ttt b e bbbt e b e s bt bbb e b s bt e bt e b e e b e s b e e b e e bb e b e s bt e bt e b b et e s b b e bt ebb et e sbnenbesanenne 205
31, FEES AN COMMISSIONS ...ttt sttt a e bbb b s bt e bt e b e e b e s bt e bt e b s e b e s b e e b e e bs e b e s b e e b e sbb et e sbe e bt ebb et e sbeebeennenne 206
32. Gains/(losses) on financial asSets aNd [ADIIITIES .......ccuvieeveiiie ittt ettt et e e et e et e e eteeereeeteeebeeeteeeebeeeareeeseesareenseeearean 207
33. Other operating income and expenses and assets and liabilities under insurance or reinsurance contracts.........cccceecvvereernnen. 208

34, PEISONNEI EXPENSES ...veiiuriieiitrieeeiitteesttteeatteeaseteeesasseesastaeasssseessseesassseeaasseeesssessasssseansssessassesssnsssessssssessssessssssssesssseessssessanssseesssnes 209



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

35, Other admMIiNISTratiVe EXPENSES .. .eviiieiiiie ettt ettt et ee et e e e bt e e sttt e e e bt e e e sabeeesbbeeasabaeeasbaeesasbeeesasaeeeaasbeesaabeeesssbeeeassbeessabaeesnnseeennnes 211
36. Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss.......ccccccceecvverieennnen. 213
37. Impairment/(reversal) of impairment 0N NON-fINANCIAL @SSEES.....cuiiiiiiiieiciiicteecee ettt re et ebe e sare e baesareenbeeeareas 214
38. Gains/(losses) on derecognition of NON-fINANCIAL @SSEES ....ccuviiiiiiciiicieecte ettt e e ete e e b e s e e ebeeetaeebeesabeebeesabeessneeaseas 215

39. Profit/(loss) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations 216

40. INfOrmMation ON The fAIr VAIUE......oouiiiieieee ettt b e bttt a e b e s bt et e e ae e b e s st e s bt eab e s b e estenbeeabenbeeabenbeenbanbenanens 217
4. Related Party TranSACTIONS. ....ccuviiieiieeecittee ettt e ettt e et eeeeteeeestbeeeseubeeeetaeeesabeeesabeeeassaeeeasbaeesasbaeeanssseeansseeeanbaeeansseeeassseeennbaeesssneennns 227
43, StatemMents Of CASH FIOWS.....coiiiii et b e b e s e e bbbt s ba e bbb e a e b et r e 235
Appendix 1 - CaixaBank investments in subsidiaries of the CaixaBank GroUP .........cceciereeriieenieeiie ettt s 236
Appendix 2 - CaixaBank stakes in agreements and joint ventures of the CaixaBank Group..........cccevveeriieerieeneeniieenie e esee s 238
Appendix 3 — Investments in ass0Ciates Of CAIXABaANK......c.utiiriiriieiie ettt st s bt e b sareesae e e neesaneeneesaneenee 239
APPENTIX 4 — OThEr TaX GETAIIS ..ec.eeieiieiiee et e e e te e e e st e e e e etb e e e e baeeeeabeeeeeabaeeesseeeeasseeeaabaeessseeeassseeeanbasessseeennns 241
Appendix 5 — Disclosure on the acquisition and disposal of ownership interests in subsidiaries in 2019..........ccccccveeevieeeriieeccciieeenn, 242
Appendix 6 — ANNUAl DaNKING FEPOIT ... .iiiiieiee ettt e s e st esa e e bt e sab e e be e s bt e sseesabeesaseeseesnseennnesaneennne 243

Appendix 7 — Reconciliation of impacts of the 1st application Of IFRS 9 .....couiiiiiiiieceeeeeeeeee e e 246



Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

CAIXABANK, SA AND COMPANIES COMPRISING THE CAIXABANK GROUP

Notes to the financial statements for the year 2019

As required by current legislation governing the content of consolidated financial statements, these notes to the consolidated
financial statements complete, extend and discuss the balance sheet, statement of profit or loss, statement of changes in equity
and the statement of cash flows, and form an integral part of them to give a true and fair view of the equity and financial position
of the CaixaBank Group at 31 December 2019, and the results of its operations, the changes in equity and the cash flows during the
year then ended.
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1. Corporate information, basis of presentation and other information

1.1. Corporate information

CaixaBank, S.A. (hereinafter, CaixaBank - its trade name - or the Entity), is a Spanish public limited company registered in the
Commercial Register of Valencia, Volume 10370, Folio 1, Sheet V-178351, and in the Special Administrative Register of the Bank of
Spain, under number 2100. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of CaixaBank is 7CUNS533WID6K7DGFI87, and its tax ID (NIF) is
A08663619. As of 1 July 2011, CaixaBank's shares are listed in on the securities exchanges of Madrid, Barcelona, Valencia and
Bilbao, in their continuous markets. The registered office and tax address of CaixaBank is Calle Pintor Sorolla, 2-4 in Valencia.

The Entity's most relevant company milestones during its period of activity are:

The corporate purpose of CaixaBank mainly entails:

B all manner of activities, operations, acts, contracts and services related to the banking sector in general, including the
provision of investment services and ancillary services and performance of the activities of an insurance agency;

B receiving public funds in the form of irregular deposits or in other similar formats, for the purposes of application on its own
account to active credit and microcredit operations, and other investments, providing customers with services including
dispatch, transfer, custody, mediation and others; and

B acquisition, holding, enjoyment and disposal of all manner of securities and drawing up takeover bids and sales of securities,
and of all manner of ownership interests in any entity or company.

CaixaBank and its subsidiaries comprise the CaixaBank Group (hereinafter "the CaixaBank Group" or "the Group”).

CaixaBank is the parent company of the financial conglomerate formed by the Group's entities that are considered to be regulated,
recognising CaixaBank as a significant supervised entity, whereby CaixaBank comprises, together with the credit institutions of its
Group, a significant supervised group of which CaixaBank is the entity at the highest level of prudential consolidation.
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As a listed bank, it is subject to oversight by the European Central Bank and the Spanish national securities market regulator (the
Comision Nacional del Mercado de Valores, CNMV), however, the entities of the Group are subject to oversight by supplementary
and industry-based bodies.

Since CaixaBank is a Spanish commercial enterprise structured as a public limited company, it is therefore subject to the revised
text of the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act ("Corporate Enterprises Act"), enacted by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010 of 2 July
and its implementing provisions. Furthermore, given that it is a listed company, it is also governed by the revised text of the
Securities Markets Act, approved by Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015, of 23 October, and its implementing provisions.

1.2. Basis of presentation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the directors in accordance with the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Group at 31 December 2019, which is set forth in the International Financial Reporting
Standards adopted by the European Union (hereinafter, "IFRS-EU"). In preparing these statements, Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of
27 November has been taken into account, which constitutes the adaptation of the IFRS-EU to Spanish credit institutions, and
subsequent amendments in force at the end of the financial year.

The financial statements, which were prepared from the accounting records of CaixaBank and the Group's companies, are
presented in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to them and, in particular, with the
accounting principles and rules contained therein and, accordingly, present fairly the Group’s equity, financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for the financial year. The accompanying financial statements include certain adjustments and
reclassifications required to apply the policies and criteria used by the Group companies on a consistent basis with those of
CaixaBank.

The figures are presented in millions of euros unless another monetary unit is stated. Certain financial information in these notes
was rounded off and, consequently, the figures shown herein as totals may differ slightly from the arithmetic sum of the individual
figures given before them. Similarly, in deciding what information to disclose in this report, its materiality was assessed in relation
to the annual financial data.

Standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) that became effective in the year

On 1 January 2019 the Group adopted the following accounting standards:

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS THAT BECAME EFFECTIVE IN 2019

STANDARDS AND

INTERPRETATIONS TITLE

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendment to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
IFRIC 23 interpretation * Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendment to IAS 28 ** Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendment to IAS 19 * Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Annual cycle of improvements Annual Improvements Project for IFRS 2015-2017

(*) They have not had a significant effect on the Group.

B IFRS 16 Leases

This standard establishes the principles applicable to the recognition, assessment and presentation of leases, as well as the
disclosures in this regard. Its date of first application is 1 January 2019, when it replaced IAS 17 “Leases” and IFRIC 4 “Determining
whether an arrangement contains a lease”, which applied until 31 December 2018. There are relevant differences as regards these
standards, namely the accounting treatment given to the lessee, as there are no changes in terms of how these agreements are
recognised by the lessor.

The impact of the adoption of this standard on the Group is described in Note 1.4-“Comparison of information”, after considering
the transitory measures for application of the standard.
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H Amendment to IFRS 9 “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation”:

The IASB amended IFRS 9, whereby any financial assets containing early repayment or termination clauses that could lead to
reasonable negative compensation for early contract termination can be measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income.

B Annual Improvements Project for IFRS 2015-2017

As part of this project, the IASB has amended IAS 12 which affects the tax impacts of the distribution of the profits generated. From
1 January 2019, the tax impacts of the distribution of profits generated are recognized in the line «Tax expense or income related
to profit or loss from continuing operations» in the income statement for the year, when they were previously registered in
Equity». This basically affects the distribution of discretionary coupons for the issues made. This change has not had a material
impact or significant impact on the presentation of the comparative financial statements, so the restatement of them was not
necessary.

Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation for issue of these consolidated financial statements, following are the main standards and
interpretations issued by the IASB but not yet effective, either because their effective date is subsequent to the date of the
consolidated financial statements or because they had not yet been endorsed by the European Union:

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BY THE IASB BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

MANDATORY APPLICATION FOR
ANNUAL PERIODS BEGINNING ON OR

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS AFTER:
APPROVED FOR USE IN THE EU *

Amendment to IFRS 3 Definition of a business 1 January 2020
Amendment to IAS 39, IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Interest rate benchmark reform 1 January 2020
Amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8 ** Definition of material 1 January 2020

NOT APPROVED FOR USE
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

(*) The Group has elected not to early adopt these standards, where possible, with the exception of the amendment to IAS 39, IFRS 9 and IFRS 7.
(**) The Group does not expect any relevant impacts arising from this implementation.

B Amendment to IAS 39, IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In the context of the global interest rate benchmark reform (IBORs), the IASB launched a project to review of the main IFRS
standards affected, split into in two phases. The first phase focused on the accounting impacts before the replacement of the
interest rate benchmarks, and finished with the publication in September 2019 of the Amendments to IAS 39, IFRS 9 and IFRS 7,
which were approved at European level on 17 January 2020. It came into effect on 1 January 2020.

These amendments provide exceptions so entities do not have to abandon their hedging ratios in an environment of uncertainty
regarding the long-term feasibility of some interest rate benchmarks. These exceptions are based, inter alia, on the ability to
assume that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged risk or the cash flows of the hedged item or of the hedging
instrument is based, is not altered as a consequence of the reform.

The Group has decided to early apply the amendments of phase one, although due to the fact that the majority of its hedging ratios
are based on the Euribor index and that the latter has not been subject to replacement — rather on 31 December 2019 only its
calculation methodology was changed —, the management deems that there is no uncertainty — at the time these consolidated
financial statements are being drafted — as to whether it will disappear, which is why the details of information considered in the
amendments do not apply.
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B IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts”

The standard sets out the requirements an entity must apply when accounting for insurance contracts issued and reinsurance
contracts entered into. The currently approved effective date of this standard is 1 January 2021, and it will replace IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts, a temporary standard allowing for the continued use of local accounting practices, whereby insurance contracts are
accounted for differently in different jurisdictions.

Through the publication of the Exposure Draft ED/2019/4 of Amendments to IFRS 17 in May 2019, the issuing agency of the IFRS
has proposed — among others changes in the standard — a one-year deferral of its first application, with the effective date being
established on 1 January 2022 (with a minimum of one-year comparative information). As a result of the ED consultation process,
this decision — among other aspects — will be subjected to review in the IASB deliberation process, a view of which is scheduled for
the end of the first quarter of 2020 and which will be implemented through the publication of the definitive ED in mid-2020.

As specified in note 2.21 for insurance operations, the Group's insurance companies have made use of the temporary exemption of
the application of IFRS 9, thus, this standard is no longer in force for the insurance business by virtue of the application of EU
Regulation 2017/1988. This regulation allows for the deferral of IFRS 9 for insurance companies that form part of a financial
conglomerate, as stated in article 2, section 14 of Directive 2002/87/EC. This option was adopted by the CaixaBank Group for the
financial investments of the Group's insurance companies (VidaCaixa and BPI Vida y Pensiones) from 1 January of 2018, as it
fulfilled the conditions laid down by article 2 of the EU Regulation EU 2017/1988.

Implementation of IFRS 17 will standardise the accounting treatment for all insurance contracts, based on a measurement model
using calculation assumptions updated at each reporting date (such as the discount rate, mortality and survival tables, and other
variables).

The effects of changes in these assumptions could be recognised in either the income statement or in equity, based on the related
nature and on whether the changes are associated with the provision of a service already rendered, or else entail a reclassification
between insurance liability components recognised. With particular respect to insurance finance income or expenses as a result of
changes in the discount rate, entities may choose to recognise them fully in the income statement or in equity.

For all non-onerous contracts, entities will recognise a contractual service margin over the period in which the entity provides
insurance cover under a contract.

The Group launched an internal project at the end of 2017 to adapt to the new regulatory framework for insurance contracts, |FRS
17. The main aim is to take the necessary steps to adopt IFRS 17 in the affected insurance business so as to ensure compliance at
the effective date, and assess the potential quantitative and qualitative impacts (e.g. on the business, infrastructure) sufficiently in
advance in order to enhance their management.

The goal of the first phase of the project, conducted in the first half of 2018, was:

B To draw up an approach to identify the key aspects of the new accounting standard, a diagnosis of different aspects to be
analysed and an action plan to guarantee implementation of IFRS 17,

B To ensure all quantitative and qualitative requirements are identified and planned to achieve implementation by the effective
date,

B To guarantee that the impact can be calculated before the effective date.

In the second half of 2018, the second phase of the project began, which was basically focused on the creation of a detailed
implementation plan (which includes products, systems, processes, organisation, etc.), the definition of those in charge and the
determination of the deadlines. During 2019, major developments have been carried out in the execution of the implementation
plan in fields such as the methodological analysis of the standard and modelling of the main insurance products, development of
the systems — including integrating the technology solution in which the new calculations required by IFRS 17 will be made, and
necessary adjustments to the current systems — and aspects related to the organisation and governance of the project, such as
internal training with regard to the standard.

A number of teams have been involved in the project (Accounts, Actuarial, Solvency and Risk Control, Systems, Financial
Accounting, Accounting Policies, etc.) who oversee day-to-day management and perform the necessary tasks. As part of the
process of defining the project governance model, a Monitoring Committee has also been set up, comprising officers from the
aforesaid areas, which controls and oversees the project and has decision-making powers.
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The Project Management Committee — headed up by VidaCaixa in coordination with the Executive Financial Accounting, Control
and Capital department — is the most senior decision-making and supervisory body for the project. It is responsible for any strategic
decisions that need to be made at the highest level, and is the link between the management committees of VidaCaixa and
CaixaBank.

1.3. Responsibility for the information

and for the estimates made

The Entity's consolidated financial statements for 2019 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors at a meeting held on 20
February 2020. They have not yet been approved by the Annual General Meeting, while it is expected that they will be approved
without any changes. The financial statements of the previous year were approved by the Ordinary Annual General Meeting on 5
April 2019.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements required the Board of Directors to make certain judgments, estimates and
assumptions in order quantify certain assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and obligations shown in them. These judgments and
estimates mainly refer to:

B The criterion for timing of recognition in profit and loss of income from ancillary activities provided (Note 2.10).

The measurement of goodwill and intangible assets (Note 2.15 and 19).

The term of the lease agreements and the discount rate used in the assessment of the lease liabilities (Note 2.18).

The fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in the context of the purchase price allocation in business
combinations.

Impairment losses on financial assets, and of the fair value of guarantees associated thereto, according to their classification in
accounts, which entail the need to make judgments regarding: i) the consideration of “significant increase in credit risk” (SICR);
ii) definition of default; and ii) the inclusion of forward-looking information (Notes 2.7 and 3.3.2.3).

The measurement of investments in joint ventures and associates (Note 16).

Determination of the share of profit/(loss) of associates (Note 16).

Actuarial assumptions used to measure liabilities arising from insurance contracts (Note 17).

The classification, useful life of and impairment losses on tangible assets and intangible assets (Notes 18 and 19).

Impairment losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale (Note 21).

Actuarial assumptions used to measure post-employment liabilities and commitments (Note 23).

The measurement of the provisions required to cover labour, legal and tax contingencies (Note 23).

The income tax expense based on the income tax rate expected for the full year and the capitalisation and recoverability of tax
assets (Note 25).

The fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities (Note 40).

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the date of authorisation for issue of the financial
statements. However, events may occur that make it necessary for them to be changed in future periods. According to applicable
legislation, the effects of these changes would be recognised prospectively in the corresponding statement of profit or loss.
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1.4. Comparison of information
changes in the scope

of consolidation

The 2018 and 2017 figures presented in the accompanying 2019 Financial Statements are given for comparison purposes only. In
some cases, in order to facilitate comparability, the comparative information is presented in a summarised way, and the full
information is available in the 2018 and 2017 financial statements.

IFRS 16 - Leases

As stated in this note in the "Basis of presentation" section, the Group has applied IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. Along these lines, it
has opted not to reassess whether an agreement is a lease or contains a leasing component in accordance with the standard's
criteria, applying it solely for agreements that had been identified as leases according to the previous standard.

For leases in which the Group intervenes as lessee, previously classified as operational leases, the Group has opted to apply the
new leasing criteria retroactively through the modified retrospective approach, whereby enabling an estimation of the value of the
right of use by referencing the financial liability in operations; generating no adjustment in reserves whatsoever at 1 January 2019.
Additionally, the Group has decided to exclude from the scope — in accordance with the simplifications considered in the new
regulatory framework on financial information — lease agreements whose underlying asset is not real estate and whose term
expires within the twelve months following the initial application date.

The main type of contracts identified for which a right-of-use asset and a lease liability had to be estimated at 1 January 2019 are
real estate leases (office buildings) in connection with the operating activity.

For sale transactions with subsequent leasing carried out before 1 January 2019 in which the Group has acted as a seller-lessee, the
subsequent lease has been recorded as any other existing operational lease at 1 January 2019.

The breakdowns, at 31 December 2018 and 2017, of balance sheet items referring to lease agreements in this report have not been
restated, which is why it cannot be compared with the information referring to 31 December 2019.

The reconciliation between operational lease commitments at 31 December 2018 and the lease liabilities recorded on 1 January
2019 in application of IFRS 16 is as follows:

COMMITMENTS FOR OPERATIONAL LEASES
(Millions of euros)

COMMITMENTS FOR OPERATIONAL LEASES AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 1,890
Different processing of the lease term (308)
Separation of non-leasing components (66)
Other adjustments (includes the financial discount on future payments) (108)
LEASE LIABILITIES AT 1 JANUARY 2019 1,409
Discount rate applied (according to the term) *

Spain [0.10%-1.66%)

Portugal [0.20%-0.90%]

(*) The difference in the discount rate applied for businesses in Spain and Portugal is mainly due to the term of the lease agreements in each of them.
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Amendment to the accounting treatment linked to defined benefit commitments

The restatement of balances formulated in the financial statements of the years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018 are set
out below, as a result of the amendments that are specified below:

RESTATEMENT OF BALANCES - 31-12-2016
(Millions of euros)

AMENDMENT TO AMENDMENT TO
TREATMENT OF ASSETS RECORDING

BALANCE AT HELD BY THE OF ACTUARIAL 31-12-2016

31-12-2016 EMPLOYEE PF GAINS AND LOSSES RESTATED

Tax assets 10,521 (40) 10,481
Deferred tax assets 9,643 (40) 9,603
TOTAL ASSETS 347,927 (40) 347,887
Liabilities under insurance contracts 45,804 1,142 46,946
Provisions 4,730 (1,492) 3,238

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit

obligations 2,029 (1,492) 537

Tax liabilities 1,186 65 1,251
Deferred tax liabilities 1,186 65 1,251
TOTAL LIABILITIES 324,372 (285) 0 324,087
Shareholders' equity 23,400 - 453 23,853
Retained earnings 5,239 220 5,459
Other reserves (717) 233 (484)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 127 245 (453) (81)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 127 245 (453) (81)
TOTAL EQUITY 23,555 245 0 23,800

RESTATEMENT OF BALANCES - 31-12-2017

(Millions of euros)

AMENDMENTTO AMENDMENT TO 1st
TREATMENT OF RECORDING OF BALANCE AT APPLICATION
BALANCE AT ASSETS HELD BY THE ACTUARIAL GAINS 31-12-2017 IFRS 9 BALANCE A
31-12-2017 EMPLOYEE PF AND LOSSES RESTATED (APPENDIX 7) 01-01-2018
Tax assets 11,055 (50) 11,005 243 11,248
Deferred tax assets 10,255 (50) 10,205 243 10,448
TOTAL ASSETS 383,186 (50) 383,136 (548) 382,588
Liabilities under the insurance business 49,750 1,248 50,998 8,241 59,239
Provisions 5,001 (1,510) 3,491 8 3,499
Pensions and other post-employment
defined benefit obligations 2,108 (1,510) 598 598
Tax liabilities 1,388 29 1,417 1,417
Deferred tax liabilities 1,194 29 1,223 1,223
TOTAL LIABILITIES 358,503 (233) 0 358,270 8 358,278
Shareholders' equity 24,204 - 518 24,722 (539) 24,183
Retained earnings 5,554 484 6,038 6,038
Other reserves (628) 34 (594) (539) (1,133)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 45 183 (518) (290) (23) (313)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss 116 (518) (402) (447) (849)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss 45 67 112 424 536

TOTAL EQUITY 24,683 183 0 24,866 (556) 24,310
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RESTATEMENT OF BALANCES - 31-12-2018
(Millions of euros)

AMENDMENT TO AMENDMENT TO

TREATMENT OF ASSETS RECORDING OF
BALANCE AT HELD BY THE ACTUARIAL GAINS 31-12-2018
31-12-2018 EMPLOYEE PF AND LOSSES RESTATED
Tax assets 11,340 (76) 11,264
Deferred tax assets 10,117 (76) 10,041
TOTAL ASSETS 386,622 (76) 386,546
Liabilities under the insurance business 60,452 1,067 61,519
Provisions 4,610 (1,531) 3,079
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 1,989 (1,531) 458
Tax liabilities 1,269 82 1,351
Deferred tax liabilities 1,033 82 1,115
TOTAL LIABILITIES 362,564 (382) 0 362,182
Shareholders' equity 24,836 548 25,384
Retained earnings 6,786 514 7,300
Other reserves (1,539) 34 (1,505)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (807) 306 (548) (1,049)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (904) 116 (548) (1,336)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 97 190 287
TOTAL EQUITY 24,058 306 0 24,364

Below follow the balances of the balance sheet headings at 31 December 2019 affected by the amendment of the aforementioned
accounting policies, in the event that the same had not been carried out:

BALANCE SHEET PROFORMA BALANCES - 31-12-2019
(Millions of euros)

AMENDMENT TO AMENDMENT TO

TREATMENT OF ASSETS RECORDING OF
BALANCE AT HELD BY THE ACTUARIAL GAINS 31-12-2019
31-12-2019 EMPLOYEE PF AND LOSSES PROFORMA
Tax assets 11,113 94 11,207
Deferred tax assets 9,836 94 9,930
TOTAL ASSETS 391,414 94 391,508
Liabilities under the insurance business 70,807 (1,196) 69,611
Provisions 3,624 1,617 5,241
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 521 1,617 2,138
Tax liabilities 1,296 (42) 1,254
Deferred tax liabilities 1,058 (42) 1,016
TOTAL LIABILITIES 366,263 379 366,642
Shareholders' equity 26,247 (718) 25,529
Retained earnings 7,795 (664) 7,131
Other reserves (1,281) (54) (1,335)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,125) (285) 718 (692)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (1,568) (190) 718 (1,040)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 443 (95) 348
TOTAL EQUITY 25,151 (285) 24,866
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a) Treatment of the assets held by the employee Pension Fund

In accordance with IAS 19, the assets of a plan that are eligible to be presented net of obligations arising out of defined benefit
commitments include the assets held by an employee long-term benefit fund.

CaixaBank's defined benefit commitments have been arranged through the employees Pension Fund, which according to IAS 24 is a
related party of the Group. To date, the Group did not apply the exception established in IAS 19 to consider assets held by a
pension fund for employees as an eligible plan asset. For this purpose, the fund's assets can include insurance policies in which the
fund acts as a policyholder and beneficiary.

At 31 December 2019 the Group has voluntarily decided to change its accounting policy with regard to the treatment of assets held
by the employee Pension Fund, thus deeming them eligible plan assets, and as a result the rights of the same on the underwritten
policies are considered.

The aforementioned change in accounting policy has been carried out retroactively at the start of the oldest comparison period
presented, and conceptually it has involved the following:

B Employee defined benefit commitments continue to be measured under IAS 19 with a continued approach as regards the
acceptance of the various actuarial and financial assumptions (reviewed at each closure date). Nonetheless, as a different
aspect, these are presented net of the value of the plan's assets, which in this case reflects the value of the policies
underwritten between the Control Committee and the insurance company (VidaCaixa). For these purposes, the value of the
plan assets is calculated by updating the flows using the same assumption as that used to measure the obligations. This
calculation methodology remains in place with regard to the methodology being used for the purpose of CaixaBank's
individual balance sheet.

B The changes deriving from the changes over time of the net commitment liability continues to be recorded under "Other
comprehensive income".

B The investments, in public debt, held in the VidaCaixa balance sheet, the purpose of which is to hedge the flows deriving from
policy obligations, continue to be consolidated as to date, with the only difference being that they are considered to be
financial instruments under policies underwritten by the Control Committee, and independent part of the CaixaBank Group in
accordance with 1AS 19.

B As a result of the foregoing, the consolidated financial statements feature VidaCaixa's mathematical technical provisions
(estimated using the interest rate of affected investments as the discount rate) that were previously adjusted in the
consolidation process, as well as the public debt investments mentioned in the previous point.

CaixaBank's management deems the aforementioned change to offer more representative information with regard to the Group's
financial situation and the way in which defined benefit guarantees are arranged. Specifically, and considering the current interest
rate context, the cost in equity and volatility of the previous accounting policy applied to date merely reflected the cost of the
opportunity of failing to hedge these commitments at the time of outsourcing. In other words, the greater financial disbursement
that the insurer had to make in order to guarantee the payment of the defined benefit commitments using the public debt
portfolio.

b) Recognition of actuarial gains and losses

In order to improve the accurate picture of the Group's financial statements, during 2019, the accounting recognition criterion of
the actuarial gains and losses has been amended, whereby the new presentation more suitably reflects the impacts on equity
deriving from the measurement of the assets and liabilities linked to the Group's pension commitments. Following on from this,
the actuarial losses and gains previously recognised at each closing date under the heading “Shareholders' equity - Retained
earnings” are now shown under the heading “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income — Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss - Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans”.

IFRS 9

The Group applied IFRS 9 for the first time on 1 January 2018. This led to changes to the classification and measurement
modifications of certain items on the balance sheet at 31 December 2017. The impacts of the first application are specified in
Appendix 7.
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1.5. Seasonality of operations

The nature of the most significant operations carried out by the Group do not have a relevant cyclical or seasonal nature within a
single financial year.

1.6. Ownership interests in the capital of
credit institutions

At year-end, the Group held no direct ownership interest equal to or greater than 5% of the capital or voting rights in any credit
institution other than the investments and subsidiaries and associates listed in Appendices 1 and 3.

1.7. Reserve ratio

In this year, the Entity complied with the minimum reserve ratio required by applicable regulations.

1.8. Significant operations

Agreement of sale to Lone Star
Repurchase of Servihabitat Servicios Inmobiliarios, SL (Servihabitat)

On 8 June 2018, CaixaBank reached an agreement with the company SH Findel, S.A.R.L. (subsidiary company of TPG Sixth Street
Partners) to repurchase 51% of the share capital of Servihabitat at a price of EUR 176.5 million. After this purchase, which obtained
the necessary authorisations and which was closed on 13 July 2018, the Group now holds 100% of the share capital of Servihabitat.

As a result of the combination of businesses, Servihabitat is now consolidated through the method of global integration, for
accounting purposes, from 1 July 2018. The impact on equity and profit of the difference between the acquisition date and the date
that control was effectively obtained (13 July 2018) was not significant. This operation involved the emergence of the following
impacts on the Group's income statement:

A review of the carrying amount of the prior stake in Servihabitat (49%) by virtue of the update of the valuation of this
share, consistent with the sale offer accepted by the Group with regard to the operation announced on 28 June 2018 and
described in the following section. It resulted in the recording of a EUR 52 million loss under the heading
"Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on investments in joint ventures and associates" of the accompanying consolidated
income statement.

The recognition of a loss amounting to EUR 152 million under the heading "Provisions or reversal of provisions" in the
accompanying consolidated income statement, corresponding to the difference between the transaction price (EUR 176.5
million) and the fair value of the share purchased in 51% of Servihabitat, estimated in the context of the sale of this share
to Lone Star.

Similarly, the result generated by this stake as a consequence of its business combination in July 2018 until sold, after the
implementation of the transaction described in the following section, was classified under "Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinued
operations" in the consolidated income statement.

Agreement of sale to Lone Star

On 28 June 2018, CaixaBank arranged to sell 80% of its real estate portfolio to a company owned by Lone Star Fund X and Lone Star
Real Estate Fund V. This transaction mainly includes the portfolio of real estate assets available for sale on 31 October 2017, as well
as 100% of the share capital of Servihabitat. The gross value of the real estate assets at 31 October 2017 used for the sale was
approximately EUR 12,800 million, the net carrying amount of which was approximately EUR 6,700 million.

The Group transferred the aforementioned portfolio, together with 100% of Servihabitat, to a new company (Coral Homes, S.L.),
80% of which was subsequently sold to Lone Star, retaining a 20% stake through BuildingCenter. The overall impact of the sale
operation on the consolidated statement of profit or loss (including, expenses, taxes and other costs) was EUR -48 million after tax
and +15 basis points in the fully-loaded CET1 ratio at 31 December 2018.
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Guarantees given in the operation

The sale agreed with Lone Star comprised a representations and warranties clause as regards the ownership of the transferred
assets which, under certain circumstances, may be subject to claims brought against the Group until June 2020.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did not deem there to be a material impact on equity as a result of the existence of
these clauses.

1.9. Subsequent events

The operations — in addition to those stated in the rest of the notes — that have taken place between the close and the formulation
thereof are set out below.

Issuances of debt securities

On 17 January 2020, CaixaBank issued preferred senior debt for the amount of EUR 1,000 million over 5 years with an annual return
of 0.43%, equivalent to midswap + 58 basis points.
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2. Accounting policies and measurement bases

The principal accounting policies and measurement bases used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for 2019 were as follows:

2.1. Business combinations and

consolidation principles

In addition to data relating to the parent company, the consolidated financial statements contain information on subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates. The procedure for integrating the assets and liabilities of these companies depends on the type of control
or influence exercised.

Subsidiaries
The Group considers as subsidiaries companies over which it has the power to exercise control. Control is evidenced when it has:

B power to direct the relevant activities of the investee, i.e. the rights (legal or by-law provisions or through agreements) that
confer the ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the investee’s returns,

B the present (practical) ability to exercise the rights to exert power over the investee to affect its returns, and,
B exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee.

In general, voting rights give the ability to direct the relevant activities of an investee. To calculate voting rights, all direct and
indirect voting rights, as well as potential voting rights (e.g. call options on equity instruments of the investee) are considered. In
some circumstances, a company may have power to direct the activities without holding a majority of the voting rights.

In these cases, the investor considers whether it has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities unilaterally (financial and
operating decisions, or appointing and remunerating governing bodies, among others).

The subsidiaries are consolidated, without exception, on the grounds of their activity, using the full consolidation method, which
consists of the aggregation of the assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses of a similar nature included in their separate
financial statements. The carrying amount of direct and indirect investments in the share capital of subsidiaries is eliminated in
proportion to the percentage of ownership in the subsidiaries held by virtue of these investments. All other balances and
transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated on consolidation.

The share of third parties in the equity and profit or loss is shown under “Minority interests (non-controlling interests)” in the
balance sheet and in “Profit/(loss) attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests)” in the statement of profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated from the date of acquisition. Similarly, the results of
subsidiaries that are no longer classified as subsidiaries in the year are consolidated at the amount generated from the beginning of
the year up to the date on which control is lost.

Acquisitions and disposals of investments in subsidiaries without a change of control are accounted for as equity transactions, with
no gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The difference between the consideration paid or received and the
decrease or increase in the amount of minority interests, respectively, is recognised in reserves.

According to IFRS 10, on loss of control of a subsidiary, the assets, liabilities, minority interests and other items recognised in
valuation adjustments are derecognised, and the fair value of the consideration received and any remaining investment
recognised. The difference is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Regarding non-monetary contributions to jointly controlled entities, the IASB recognised a conflict in standard between IAS 27,
under which on the loss of control, any investment retained is measured at fair value and the full gain or loss on the transaction is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, and paragraph 48 of IAS 31 and the interpretation SIC 13, which, for transactions
under their scope, restrict gains and losses to the extent of the interest attributable to the other equity holders of the jointly
controlled entity. The Group has elected to apply, in a consistent manner, the provisions of IAS 27 to transactions under the scope
of these standards.

Relevant information on these entities is disclosed in Appendix 1.The above information is based on the most recent data available
(actual or estimated) at the time of preparation of these Notes.
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Joint ventures

The Group considers as joint ventures those which are controlled jointly under a contractual arrangement, by virtue of which,
decisions on relevant activities are made unanimously by the entities that share control with rights over the net assets.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the “equity method”, i.e. in the proportion to the Entity’s share of the assets
of the investee, after adjusting for dividends received and other equity eliminations.

Relevant information on these entities is disclosed in Appendix 2.The above information is based on the most recent data available
(actual or estimated) at the time of preparation of these Notes.

Associates

Associates are companies over which the Group exercises significant direct or indirect influence, but which are not subsidiaries or
joint ventures. In the majority of cases, significant influence is understood to exist when the company holds 20% or more of the
voting rights of the investee. If it holds less than 20%, significant influence is evidenced by the circumstances indicated in IAS 28.
These include representation on the board of directors, participation in policy-making processes, material transactions between
the entity and its investee, interchange of managerial personnel or the provision of essential technical information.

Exceptionally, those not considered associates are companies in which more than 20% of the voting rights is held, but it can clearly
be demonstrated that significant influence does not exist and, therefore, the Group lacks the power to govern the entity’s financial
and operation policies. Based on these criteria, at the end of the year, the Group held certain equity investments for very
insignificant amounts, ranging from 20% to 50% classified under “Financial assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive
income”.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, i.e. in the proportion to the share of the assets of the
investee, after adjusting for dividends received and other equity eliminations. The profits and losses arising from transactions with
an associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the share capital of the associate.

The amortisation of intangible assets with a finite useful life identified as a result of a Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) is recognised
with a charge to “Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method” in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group has not used the financial statements of companies accounted for using the equity method that refer to a different date
than that of the Group's Parent.

Relevant information on these entities is disclosed in Appendix 3.The above information is based on the most recent data available
(actual or estimated) at the time of preparation of these Notes.

Erste Group Bank AG

The most representative investment in which it has significant influence with a stake of less than 20% is Erste Group Bank AG
(Erste, Erste Group Bank or Erste Bank. There is a preferred partnership agreement between Erste’s controlling shareholder (the
Erste Foundation) and CaixaBank that confirms the amicable nature and long-term outlook of the investment, a corporate and sales
collaboration agreement between Erste Bank and CaixaBank. Under this agreement, CaixaBank i) can appoint two directors to
Erste's Supervisory Board; ii) it votes in the General Committee of Shareholders in the same sense as the Erste Foundation only as
regards to the choice of members of the Supervisory Board and iii) it is one of the Austrian bank's stable shareholders, alongside a
group of Austrian savings banks and some of their foundations, and the WSW holding company, jointly holding a share of around
30% of the capital.

Structured entities

A structured entity is that which has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding its
control, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of
contractual arrangements. In any case, the Group also uses the percentage of voting rights as an indicator for the purpose of
measuring the existence of control in entities of this nature.
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Where the Group creates or holds ownership interests in entities to provide customers access to investments or transfer certain
risks to third parties, it analyses whether it has control over the investee and, therefore, whether it should or should not be
consolidated.

B Consolidated structured entities:

To determine whether there is control over a structured entity and, therefore whether it should be consolidated, the Group
analyses the contractual rights other than voting rights. For this, it considers the purpose and design of each entity and, inter
alia, evidence of the ability to direct the relevant activities, potential indications of special relationships or the ability to affect
the returns from its involvement.

With regard to securisation funds, the Group is highly exposed to variable returns and has decision-making power over the
entity, directly or through an agent. Information on these funds, the financial support given to the vehicles and the reason are
detailed in Note 28.2.

At year-end, there were no agreements to provide additional financial support to other types of consolidated structured
entities than those described.

B Unconsolidated structured entities:

The Group creates vehicles to provide its customers access to certain investments or to transfer risks or for other purposes.
These vehicles are not consolidated, as the Group does not have control and as the criteria for consolidation set out in IFRS 10
are not met.

At year-end, the Group did not have any significant interests in or provide financial support to unconsolidated structured entities.
Business combinations

Accounting standards define business combinations as the combination of two or more entities within a single entity or group of
entities. “Acquirer” is defined as the entity which, at the date of acquisition, obtains control of another entity.

For business combinations in which the Group obtains control, the cost of the combination is calculated. Generally, it will be the
fair value of the consideration transferred. This consideration includes the assets transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities
assumed by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the acquirer.

In addition, the acquirer recognises, at the acquisition date, any difference between:

i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, of the minority interests and the previously held equity
interest in the company or business acquired, and

ii)  the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, measured at their fair value.

The positive difference between i) and ii) is recognised under “Intangible assets — Goodwill” in the balance sheet provided it is not
attributable to specific assets or identifiable intangible assets of the company or business acquired. Any negative difference is
recognised under “Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss” in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.2. Financial instrruments

Classification of the financial assets

The criteria established by the regulatory framework for accounting for classifying financial instruments is set out below:

Investments in equity instruments are an exception to the aforementioned general assessment criteria. In general, the Group
irrevocably exercises the option in the initial recognition by including — in the portfolio of financial assets at fair value with changes
in other comprehensive income — investments in equity instruments that are not classified as held for trading and that, in the event
of not exercising this option, would be classified as financial assets compulsorily measured at fair value through profit or loss.

With respect to the evaluation of the business model, this does not depend on the intentions for an individual instrument, but
rather the determination is made for a set of instruments, taking into account the frequency, amount and calendar of sales in
previous financial years, the reasons for said sales and expectations of future sales. The infrequent or insignificant sales, those near
to the maturity of the asset and driven by increased credit risk of the financial assets or to manage the concentration risk, among
others, can be compatible with the model of holding assets to receive contractual cash flows.

More specifically, the fact that the Group expects to make regular sales, focusing on loans (or similar financial assets) that have
experienced a drop in credit risk levels, is not inconsistent with how those loans are classified under a business model that holds
financial assets to receive contractual cash flows. These sales are not counted for the purpose of determining the frequency of sales
and their materiality will, therefore, remain separate from the tracking ratios.

If a financial asset contains a contractual condition under which the schedule or amount of its contractual cash flows can be
modified (e.g. if the asset can be redeemed in advance or if maturity can be extended), the Group determines whether the
contractual cash flows generated by the instrument over its life are solely principal and interest payments on the outstanding
principal. To this end, the contractual cash flows that may be generated before and after the change to the schedule or the amount
of the contractual cash flows are taken into consideration.

In turn, in the case of a financial asset with a periodic adjustment of the interest rate, but where the frequency of this adjustment
does not match the term of the reference interest rate (e.g., the interest rate is adjusted every three months to the one-year rate),
at the time of the initial recognition, the Group assesses this mismatch in the interest component to determine whether the
contractual cash flows represent solely principal and interest payments on the amount of principal outstanding.

The contractual conditions that, at the time of the initial recognition, have a minimum effect on the cash flows or depend on
exceptional and highly unlikely events taking place (such as liquidation of the issuer) do not prevent the asset from being classified
in the amortised cost portfolio or fair value portfolio with changes recorded in other comprehensive income.
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Classification of the financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified under: “Financial liabilities held for trading”, “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss” and “Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”, unless they must be presented under “Liabilities included in
disposal groups classified as held for sale” or relate to “Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate
risk” or “Derivatives - Hedge accounting”, which are presented separately.

Particularly, the portfolio "Financial liabilities at amortised cost": includes financial liabilities not classified as financial liabilities held
for trading or as other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The balances recognised in this category, irrespective of
the substances of the contractual arrangement and maturity of such liabilities, arise from the ordinary capture activities of credit
institutions.

Initial recognition and measurement

Upon initial recognition, all financial instruments are recognised at fair value. For the financial instruments that are not registered
at fair value through profit or loss, the fair value amount is adjusted, adding or deducting transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition or issuance thereof. In the case of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, the directly attributable
transaction costs are immediately recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

The transaction costs are defined as expenses directly attributable to the acquisition or drawdown of a financial asset, or to the
issuance or assumption of a financial liability, which would not have been incurred if the Group had not made the transaction.
These include fees paid to intermediaries (such as prescribers); mortgage arrangement expenses borne by the Group and part of
the personnel expenses in the Risk Acceptance Centres. Under no circumstances are the internal administrative costs or those
deriving from prior research and analysis considered transaction costs.

The Group uses analytical accounting tools to identify direct and incremental transaction costs of asset operations. These costs are
included in determining the effective interest rate, which is reduced for financial assets, thus, the costs are accrued throughout the
duration of the transaction.

Subsequent measurement of the financial assets

After its initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at amortised cost, at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive income, at fair value through profit or loss, or at cost.

The receivables for trading operations that do not have a significant financing component and the commercial loans and short-term
debt instruments that are initially measured by the price of the transaction or its principal, respectively, continue to be measured
by said amount less the correction of value due to estimated impairment as described in Note 2.7.
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Income and expenses of the financial assets and liabilities

The income and expenses of financial instruments are recognised according to the following criteria:

Reclassifications between financial instrument portfolios

According to the provisions set out in IFRS 9, only in the event the Group decides to change its financial asset management business
model, would all the affected financial assets be reclassified. This reclassification would be carried out prospectively from the date
of the reclassification. In accordance with the IFRS 9 approach, in general, changes in the business model occur very infrequently.
Financial liabilities cannot be reclassified between portfolios.

2.3. Accounting hedges

The Group uses financial derivatives as a financial risk management tool, mainly interest rate risk in the banking book (see Note 3).
When these transactions meet certain requirements, they qualify for hedge accounting.

Since 1 January 2018, the Group has applied the provisions of IFRS 9 relating to hedge accounting, since it is deemed that this
option best suits the risk management strategy of the Group, since there are changes with respect to IAS 39 in a number of areas,
such as hedged items, hedging instruments, the accounting of the time value of options and the assessment of effectiveness, which
enable the expansion of the transactions to which hedge accounting is applied and facilitate the application of hedge accounting.
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When a transaction is designated as a hedge, this is done at inception of the transaction or of the instruments included in the
hedge and a technical note of the transaction is documented in accordance with the regulations in force. The hedge accounting
documentation duly identifies the hedging instrument or instruments, and the hedged item or forecast transaction, the nature of
the risk to be hedged and the way in which the Group assesses whether the hedging relationship meets the requirements of
hedging effectiveness (together with the analysis of the causes of failed protection and the way in which the coverage ratio is
determined).

For the purpose of verifying the effectiveness requirement:
there must be an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

the credit risk of the hedged item's counterparty or of the hedging instrument should not have a dominant effect on
changes in value resulting from said economic relationship; and

it is essential to comply with the coverage ratio of the hedging accounting relationship, which is defined as the relationship
between the quantity of the hedged item and the quantity of the hedging instrument, and it must be the same as the coverage
ratio used for management purposes.

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments,
or an identified portion of such assets, liabilities or firm commitments, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect the
statement of profit or loss.

In fair value hedges, the gains or losses on the hedging instrument or on the hedged item for the portion attributable to the hedged
risk are recognised in an asymmetrical way according to whether the hedged element is a debt instrument or an equity instrument:

B Debt instruments: In fair value hedges, the gains or losses on the hedging instrument or on the hedged item for the portion
attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, in the "Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting,
net" section. Particularly, in fair value macro-hedges, gains or losses arising on the hedged items are balanced in “Assets — Fair
value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk” or “Liabilities — Fair value changes of the hedged
items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk” depending on the substance of the hedged item, rather than in the items under
which the hedged items are recognised.

B Equity instruments: the gains or losses on the hedging instrument or on the hedged item for the portion attributable to the
hedged risk are recognised in the section "Accumulated other comprehensive income — Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss — Failed fair value hedges of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in other comprehensive
income" of the balance sheet.

When hedging derivatives no longer meet the requirements for hedging accounting, they are reclassified as trading derivatives. The
amount of the previously registered adjustments to the hedged item is attributed as follows:

B Debt instruments: they are recognised in the heading "Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net" of the statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest rate method at the date hedge accounting is discontinued.

B Equity instruments: are reclassified to reserves under the heading "Accumulated other comprehensive income — Elements that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss — Failed fair value hedges of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes in
other comprehensive income" of the balance sheet.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised
financial asset or liability or with a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect profit or loss.

The amount adjusted on the hedging item is recognised in “Accumulated other comprehensive income — Items that may be
reclassified to profit or loss — Hedging derivatives. Reserve of cash flow hedges [effective portion]" where they will remain until the
forecast transaction occurs, at which point it will be recognised in "Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net" of the statement of
profit or loss. However, if it is expected that the transaction will not be carried out, it will be recognised immediately in the
statement of profit or loss.
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In cash flow hedges, the portion of the hedging instrument that qualifies as an effective hedge is recognised temporarily in
“Accumulated other comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Hedging derivatives. Cash flow
hedges” in equity until the hedged transactions occur. At this moment, the amounts previously recognised in equity are taken to
the statement of profit or loss in a symmetrical manner to the hedged cash flows. The hedged items are recognised using the
methods described in Note 2.2, without any changes for their consideration as hedged instruments.

2.4. Offsetting of financial assets and

liabilities

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the balance statement when, and only when,
the Entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, taking the following into consideration:

B The legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts should not be contingent on a future event and must be legally
enforceable in all circumstances, including cases of default or insolvency of any or all of the counterparties.

B Settlements that meet the following requirements are considered equivalent to 'net settlement': they totally eliminate or
result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk; and settlement of the asset and liability is made in a single settlement process.

A breakdown of the offset transactions are presented below:

OFFSETTING OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Millions of euros)
31-12-2019 31-12-2018 31-12-2017
NET NET NET
GROSS AMOUNT IN GROSS AMOUNT IN GROSS AMOUNT IN

AMOUNT  OFFSET  BALANCE AMOUNT  OFFSET BALANCE AMOUNT  OFFSET BALANCE
RECORDED AMOUNT SHEET RECORDED AMOUNT SHEET RECORDED AMOUNT SHEET

()] (C=A-B) (A) (B) (C=A-B) (A) (B) (C=B-A)
Trading derivatives * 4,188 4,188 0 0 24 24 0
Loans and advances * 2,372 2,372 0
Loans and advances (Reverse
repurchase agreement)** 990 990 0 1,012 1,012 0 6,729 6,729 0
Loans and advances (Tax lease
transaction) 572 572 0 410 410 0 244 244 0
TOTAL ASSETS 8,122 8,122 0 1,422 1,422 00 6,997 6,997 0
Trading derivatives * 8,015 8,015 0 0 221 24 197
Financial liabilities at amortised
cost (Other financial liabilities)* (1,455) 1,455
Financial liabilities at amortised
cost (Tax lease) 991 990 1 2,595 1,012 1,583 6,993 6,729 264

Financial liabilities at amortised
cost (Repurchase agreement)
** 572 572 0 410 410 0 244 244 0

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,578 8,122 1,456 3,005 1,422 1,583 7,458 6,997 461

(*) With regard to offsetting the trading derivatives held via clearing houses LCH and EUREX, the offsetting criteria established in IAS 32 have been met since 31 December
2019.

(**) Collateral exchange operations implemented through repos, whereby separate cancellation is not permitted. They are generally carried out at 12 months.
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2.5. Derecognition of financial instruments

All or part of a financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when
the entity transfers the asset to an unrelated third party.

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the extent to which the risks and rewards associated with
ownership of the transferred assets are transferred to third parties:

If all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset are substantially transferred (such as in the case of, among
others: unconditional sales, a sale with an option to repurchase the financial asset at its fair value at the time of repurchase, a
sale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is deep out of the money, or asset securitisations in which the
transferor does not retain any subordinated loans and does not provide any type of credit enhancement to the new owners),
it is derecognised, and any rights or obligations retained or arising as a result of the transfer are simultaneously recognised.

If the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset are substantially retained (such as in the case of, among
others: sale and repurchase transactions where the repurchase price is a fixed price or the sale price plus a lender’s return, a
securities lending agreement under which the borrower has the obligation to return the securities or similar), it is not
derecognised and continues to be measured by the same criteria used before the transfer and the following are recognised:

@ A financial liability equal to the consideration received, which is subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless it
meets the requirements to be classified under other liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and

@ The income generated on the transferred (but not derecognised) financial asset and the expenses of the new financial
liability, without offsetting.

If substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset are neither transferred nor retained
(such as in the case of, among others, a sale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is neither deep-in-the-
money nor deep-out-of-the-money, securitisations in which the transferor assumes a subordinated loan or other type of credit
enhancement for part of the transferred asset), the following distinction is made:

@ If the transferor does not retain control over the financial asset transferred, it is derecognised and any right or obligation
retained or arising from the transfer is recognised; or

@ If the transferor retains control over the financial asset transferred, it continues to recognise the asset for an amount
equal to its exposure to changes in value of the asset, recognising a liability associated with the financial asset
transferred. The net amount of the transferred asset and the associated liability shall be the amortised cost of the rights
and obligations retained, if the asset is measured at amortised cost, or at fair value of the rights and obligations retained,
if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

According to the terms of the transfer agreements in place, virtually the entire portfolio of loans and receivables securitised by the
Group does not need to be written off the balance sheet.

Financial liabilities shall equally be derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.
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2.6. Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees given

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts whereby the issuer thereof undertakes to make specific payments to reimburse the
creditor for the loss incurred when a specific debtor fails to meet its payment obligations, irrespective of the legal form of the
obligation, such as deposits (including those to participate in auctions and tenders), financial and technical guarantees, irrevocable
documentary credits, insurance contracts or credit derivatives.

Financial deposits comprise all manner of deposits that directly or indirectly guarantee debt securities such as loans, credit
facilities, finance leases and deferred payment arrangements for all types of debt.

All these operations are recognised under the memorandum item “Guarantees given” in the balance sheet.

Financial guarantees and guarantee contracts are recognised upon execution at fair value plus transaction costs, which is equal to
the premium received plus the present value of the future cash flows, under "Financial assets at amortised cost” with a balancing
entry in “Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Other financial liabilities” or “Other liabilities”. Fair value changes of the contracts
are recognised as financial income in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee and guarantee contract portfolios, regardless of the guarantor, instrumentation or other circumstances, are
reviewed periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, estimate any provision
required. The credit risk is determined by applying criteria similar to those established for quantifying impairment losses on debt
securities measured at amortised cost as set out in Note 23, except in the case of technical guarantees, where the criteria set out in
Note 2.20 are applied.

Provisions set aside for this type of arrangement are recognised under "Provisions — Commitments and guarantees given" on the
liability side of the balance sheet, and under "Provisions — Other provisions"; as regards the latter, if the financial guarantees given
are classified as written-off operations pending execution by third parties. Additions to and reversals of provisions are recognised in
“Provisions or reversal of provisions” in the statement of profit or loss.

Should it become necessary to establish provisions for these financial guarantees, any fees that may accrue on these transactions in
future which would be recognised in “Financial liabilities at amortised cost — Other financial liabilities” are reclassified to
“Provisions — Commitments and guarantees given”.

Financial guarantees received

No significant guarantees or collateral were received with regard to which there is authorisation to sell or repledge without default
by the owner of the guarantee or collateral, except for the collateral inherent to the Group's treasury activity (see Note 3.12).

2.7. Impairment of the value of financial

assets

The Group applies the requirements on impairment of debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost and at fair value with
changes in other comprehensive income, as well as other exposures that involve credit risk, such as loan commitments given,
financial guarantees given and other commitments given.

The aim of the regulatory accounting framework requirements as regards impairment is to ensure recognition of the credit losses
of operations, assessed collectively or individually, considering all the reasonable and substantiated information available, including
information of a prospective nature.

Impairment losses on debt instruments in the period are recognised as an expense under the heading "Impairment or reversal of
impairment losses on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or net profit or loss due to a change" in the
statement of profit or loss. The impairment losses of debt instruments at amortised cost are recognised against a corrective
account of provisions that reduces the carrying amount of the asset, whereas those of instruments at fair value with changes in
other comprehensive income are recognised against accumulated other comprehensive income.

The hedges to cover impairment losses in exposures involving credit risk other than debt instruments are recorded as a provision
under the heading "Provisions — Commitments and guarantees given" on the liabilities side of the balance sheet. Additions to and



2. Accounting policies and measurement bases
CaixaBank Group | 2019 Financial Statements

reversals of these hedges are recognised charged under the heading “Provisions or reversal of provisions” in the statement of profit
or loss.

For the purpose of recording the hedging for impairment losses of debt instruments, the following definitions must be taken into
account in advance:

Credit losses: these correspond to the difference between all the contractual cash flows owed to the Group in accordance with
the financial asset's contract and all the cash flows that it is due to receive (i.e. all the insufficiency of cash flows), discounted
at the original effective interest rate or, for financial assets that were purchased with or that originated with credit
impairment, discounted at the effective interest rate adjusted to reflect credit quality, or the interest rate on the date referred
to in the financial statements in the case of a variable rate.

In the case of the granted loan commitments, the contractual cash flows that would be owed to the Group in the event the
loan commitment were drawn down are compared to the cash flows that it would expect to receive if the commitment were
drawn down. In the case of financial guarantees given, the payments that the Group expects to receive are taken into account,
less the cash flows that are expected to be received from the guaranteed holder.

The Group estimates the cash flows of the operation during its expected life taking into account all the contractual terms and
conditions of the operation (such as early repayment, extension, redemption and other similar options). In extreme cases
when it is not possible to reliably estimate the expected life of the operation, the Group uses the remaining contractual term
of the operation, including extension options.

The cash flows taken into account include those deriving from the sale of collateral, taking into account the cash flows that
would be obtained from the sale thereof, less the amount of the costs required to obtain them, maintenance and their
subsequent sale, or other credit improvements that form an integral part of the contractual conditions, such as financial
guarantees received.

If the Group's current non-performing asset reduction strategy expects loan sales and other accounts receivable whose credit
risk has increased (exposure classified at Stage 3), then the Group will retain any asset affected by this strategy under the
model for retaining assets to receive their contractual cash flows, thus they are measured and classified in the portfolio of
"Financial assets at amortised cost", provided that their flows only include payments of principal and interest. Similarly, until
they no longer intend to make sales, the corresponding credit risk provision takes into account the price to be received from a
third party.

Expected credit losses: these are the weighted average of the credit losses, using as weighting the respective risks of default
events. The following distinction will be taken into account:

B Expected credit losses during the life of the operation: these are expected credit losses resulting from all the possible
default events during the expected life of the operation.

B Expected credit losses at twelve months: these are the part of the credit losses expected during the life of the operation
corresponding to the expected credit losses resulting from any default events during the twelve months following the
reference date.
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The amount of the hedges to cover impairment loss is calculated according to whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since the operation's initial recognition, and whether a default event has occurred:

The Group classifies as impairments the debt instruments, whether due or not, for which after analysing them individually, it
considers the possibility of recovery to be remote and proceeds to derecognise them, without prejudice to any actions that may be
initiated to seek collection until their contractual rights are extinguished definitively by expiry of the statute-of-limitations period,
forgiveness or any other cause.

This category includes i) non-performing operations due to customer arrears older than four years, or, before the end of the four-
year period when the amount not secured by effective guarantees is fully covered for more than two years, and ii) operations made
by borrowers declared to be insolvent which have entered or will enter the liquidation phase. In both cases, the operations are not
considered to be write-offs if they have effective collateral that covers at least 10% of its gross carrying amount.

Notwithstanding the above, to reclassify operations to this category before these terms expire, the Group must demonstrate these
operations' remote recuperability.
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Based on the Group's experience of recoveries, it deems the recovery of the remaining balance of mortgage operations remote
when there is no additional collateral once the good has been recovered, and therefore, the aforementioned remainder is classified
as a write-off.

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are modified or the financial asset is replaced with another, and the
modification or exchange does not cause it to be derecognised from the balance sheet, the Group recalculates the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset, taking into account the modified flows and the effective interest rate applicable before the
modification, and recognises any difference that emerges as a loss or gain due to a change in the profit or loss of the period. The
amount of the directly attributable transaction costs raises the carrying amount of the modified financial asset and it will be
amortised during the remainder of its life, which will require the company to recalculate the effective interest rate.

Regardless of its subsequent classification, in the event that an operation is bought with or originates with credit impairment, its
hedging would be equal to the accumulated amount of the changes in the credit losses after the initial recognition and the interest
income of these assets would be calculated by applying the effective interest rate adjusted to reflect credit quality at the amortised
cost of the instrument.

2.8. Refinancing and restructuring

operations

According to the provisions of the regulation, these relate to operation in which the customer has, or will foreseeably have,
financial difficulty in meeting its payment obligations under the contractually agreed terms and, therefore, has amended the
agreement, cancelled the agreement and/or arranged a new operation.

These operations may derive from:

B A new transaction (refinancing operation) granted that fully or partially cancels other transactions (refinanced operations)
previously granted by any Group company to the same borrower or other companies forming part of its economic group that
become up-to-date on its payments for previously past-due loans.

B The amendment of the contractual terms of an existing operation (restructured operations) that changes its repayment
schedule (grace periods, extension of loan maturities, reduction in interest rates, changes in the repayment schedule,
extension of all or part of the capital on maturity, etc.).

B The activation of contract clauses agreed at source that extend the debt repayment terms (flexible grace period).

B The partial cancellation of the debt without the contribution of funds by the customer (foreclosure, purchase or received in
lieu of payment of the collateral, or forgiveness of capital, interest, fees and commissions or any other cost relating to the loan
extended to the borrower).

The existence of previous defaults is an indication of financial difficulty. Unless otherwise demonstrated, a restructuring or
refinancing operation is assumed to exist when the amendment to contractual terms affects operations that have been past due
for more than 30 days at least once in the three months prior to the amendment. However, previous defaults are not a
requirement for an operation to be classified as refinanced or restructured.

The cancellation of an operation, changes in the contractual terms or the activation of clauses that delay payments when the
customer is unable to meet future repayment obligations can also be classified as refinancing/restructuring.

In contrast, debt renewals and renegotiations may be granted when the borrower does not have, or is not expected to have,
financial difficulties; i.e. for business reasons, not to facilitate repayments.

For an operation to be classified as such, the borrower must have the capacity to obtain credit from the market, at the date in
question, for a similar amount and on similar terms to those offered by the Bank. In turn, these terms must be adjusted to reflect
the terms offered to borrowers with a similar risk profile.

In general, refinanced or restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing are classified in the watch-list
performing category. However, according to the particular characteristics of the operation they may be classified as non-
performing when they meet the general criteria for classifying debt securities as such, and specifically i) operations backed by an
unsuitable business plan, ii) operations that include contractual clauses that delay repayments in the form of interest-only periods
longer than 24 months, and iii) operations that include amounts that have been removed from the balance sheet having been
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classified as unrecoverable that exceed the coverage applicable according to the percentages established for operations in the
watch-list performing category.

Refinanced or restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing are classified as watch-list performing for a
trial period until all the following requirements are met:

B After reviewing the borrower’s asset and financial position it is concluded that they are unlikely to have financial difficulties
and therefore it is highly probable that they will meet their obligations vis-a-vis the entity in both time and form.

B A minimum period of two years has elapsed from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if
later, from the date of its reclassification from the non-performing category.

B The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or
refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date of its reclassification from the non-performing category. Additionally: i) the
borrower has made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) falling due at the
date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it; or ii) when it is deemed more
appropriate given the nature of the operations, the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their
payment capacity.

If there are contractual clauses that may delay repayments, such as grace periods for the principal, the operation will remain
classified as watch-list performing until all criteria are met.

B The borrower must have no other operations with past due amounts for more than 30 days at the end of the period.

When all the above requirements are met, the operations are no longer classified as refinancing, refinanced or restructured
operations in the financial statements.

During the previous trial period, further refinancing or restructuring of the refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations, or
the existence of amounts that are more than 30 days overdue in these operations, will mean that the operations are reclassified as
non-performing for reasons other than arrears, provided that they were classified in the non-performing category before the start
of the trial period.

Refinanced and restructured operations and new operations carried out for refinancing remain classified as non-performing until
they meet the general criteria for debt instruments; specifically the following requirements:

B A period of one year has elapsed from the refinancing or restructuring date.

B The borrower has covered all the principal and interest payments (i.e. they are up to date on payments) thereby reducing the
renegotiated principal, from the date of authorisation of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or, if later, from the date
of its reclassification to the non-performing category.

B The borrower has made regular payments of an amount equivalent to the whole amount (principal and interest) falling due at
the date of the restructuring or refinancing operation, or that were derecognised as a result of it, or, when it is deemed more
appropriate given the nature of the operations, the borrower complies with other objective criteria that demonstrate their
payment capacity.

B The borrower has no other operations with past due amounts for more than 90 days at the date the refinancing or
restructured operation is reclassified to the watch-list performing category.
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2.9. Foreign currency operations

The Group’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Consequently, all non-euro balances and transactions are foreign
currency balances and transactions.

All foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange rate between the functional
currency and the foreign currency.

At the end of each reporting period, foreign currency monetary items are translated to euros using the average exchange rate
prevailing on the spot currency market at the end of each period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated to euros using the exchange rate at the date of acquisition. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated to euros using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Unmatured forward foreign exchange purchase and sale transactions not considered as hedges are translated to euros at the year-
end exchange rates on the forward currency market.

The exchange rates used in translating the foreign currency balances to euros are those published by the European Central Bank
(ECB) at 31 December of each year.

The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign currency balances and transactions to the reporting currency of the
Group are generally recognised under “Exchange differences (net)” in the statement of profit or loss. However, exchange
differences arising on changes in the value of non-monetary items are recognised under “Equity — Accumulated other
comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Exchange differences” in the balance sheet, and exchange
differences arising on financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss with no distinction made from other changes in fair value.

Income and expenses are translated at the closing exchange rate of each month.
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2.10. Recognition of income and expenses

The main policies applied to recognise income and expenses are as follows:
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In particular the Group adheres to the following stages:

As for the accounting of the costs related to the contracts, the costs of obtaining a contract are those which the Group incurs to
obtain a contract with a customer and which it would not have incurred if the Group had not entered into said contract.

They are recognised as an asset if they are directly related to a contract that can be identified specifically and the Group expects to
recover them. In this case, they are amortised systematically and consistent with the transfer to the customer of the contractually
related goods or services. However, if the asset's repayment period is equal to or less than one year, these costs are not recognised
as an asset and are recorded as an expense.

2.11. Funds managed

Collective investment institutions and pension funds managed by Group companies are not presented on the face of the Group's
balance sheet since the related assets are owned by third parties. The fees and commissions earned in the period from this activity
are included under “Fee and commission income” in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.12. Employee benefits

Employee benefits include all forms of consideration given in exchange for services rendered to the Group by employees or for
benefits payable after completion of employment. They can be classified into the following categories:

Short-term employee benefits

These are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which fall due wholly within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related service. It includes wages, salaries and social security contributions; paid annual leave
and paid sick leave; profit-sharing and bonuses; and non-monetary benefits payable to employees such as medical care, housing,
cars and free or subsidised goods or services.

The cost of services rendered is recognised under "Administrative expenses — Personnel expenses" of the statement of profit or
loss, except for part of the personnel costs of the Risk Acceptance Centres which are presented as a smaller financial margin of the
operations to which they are associated and certain incentives for the personnel of the branch network for the marketing of
products, including insurance policies, which are also presented with a reduced financial margin or under the heading of expenses
from liabilities under insurance reinsurance contracts.

Credit facilities made available to employees at below market rates are considered to be non-monetary benefits and are calculated
as the difference between market rates and the rates agreed with employees. The difference is recognised under “Administrative
expenses — Personnel expenses” with a balancing entry under “Interest income” in the statement of profit or loss.

Remuneration to employees based on equity instruments

The delivery of shareholder equity instruments to employees as payment for their services — when such a delivery is made upon
completion of a specific period of services — is recognised as a services expense, insomuch as it is provided by employees, with a
balancing entry under the heading "Shareholders' Equity - Other equity items" elements.

On the date the equity instruments are granted, these services — as well as the corresponding equity increase — will be measured at
the fair value of the services received, unless it cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they will be measured indirectly with
reference to the fair value of the granted equity instruments. The fair value of these equity instruments will be determined on the
date they are granted.

When external market conditions are established — among the requirements laid down in the remuneration agreement —, their
performance will be taken into account when estimating the fair value of the granted equity instruments. In turn, variables that are
not considered market variables are not taken into account when calculating the fair value of granted equity instruments, but they
are considered when determining the number of instruments to be delivered. Both effects will be recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and in the corresponding increase in equity.

In the case of share-based payment transactions that are cash-settled, an expense with a balancing entry will be recorded on the
liabilities side of the balance sheet. Up to the date on which the liability is settled, this liability will be measured at its fair value,
recognising value changes in the profit/(loss) for the period.

As an exception to the provision of the previous paragraph, share-based payment transactions that have a net-settlement feature
to satisfy tax withholding obligations will be classified in their entirety as share-based payment transactions settled through equity
instruments if, in the absence of the net-settlement feature, they have been classified as such.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are all those undertaken with employees, to be paid after completion of their employment with the
Group. They include: retirement benefits, such as pensions and one-off retirement payments; and other post-employment benefits,
such as post-employment life insurance and post-employment medical care, at the end of the employment relationship.
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Defined contribution plans

The post-employment obligations with employees are deemed to be defined contribution obligations when the Group makes pre-
determined contributions to a separate entity or pension fund and has no legal or constructive obligation to make further
contributions if the separate entity or fund cannot pay the employee benefits relating to the service rendered in the current and
prior periods. Defined contribution plans each year are recognised under “Administrative expenses — Personnel expenses” in the
statement of profit or loss. Post-employment obligations that do not meet the aforementioned conditions are considered defined
benefit obligations.

Defined benefit plans

The present value of defined benefit post-employment obligations, net of the value of plan assets, is recorded under “Provisions —
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations” in the balance sheet.

Plan assets are defined as follows:

B The assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund, and

B Qualifying insurance policies; those issued by an insurer that it is not a related part of the Group.

In the case of the assets held by a benefit fund, they must be assets:

B Held by a fund that is legally separate from the Group and exists solely to pay or finance employee benefits, or

B They are solely available to pay or finance post-employment remuneration, they are not available to cover the debts of Group
creditors (not even in the event of bankruptcy), and they cannot be returned to the Group unless (i) the remaining assets of
the plan are sufficient to meet all the related employee benefit obligations of the plan or CaixaBank, or (ii) are used to
reimburse it for post-employment benefits the Group has already paid to employees.

In the case of insurance policies, the defined benefit commitments assured through policies taken out with the entities that are not
considered related parties also meet the requirements to be considered plan assets.

The value both of the assets held by a pension fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies is recognised as a decrease in the value
of the liabilities under “Provisions — Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations”. When the value of plan
assets is greater than the value of the obligations, the net positive difference is recognised under “Other assets”.

The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that include the mathematical provisions of the policies taken out directly by CaixaBank are
included on consolidation. Therefore, in this process the amount under “Liabilities under insurance contracts” is deducted and the
investments in financial instruments under policies are registered.

Post-employment benefits are recognised as follows:
B Service cost is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and includes the following:

@ Current service cost, understood as the increase in the present value of obligations arising from employee service in the
current period, recognised under "Administrative expenses — Personnel expenses".

@ Past service cost, resulting from amendments to existing post-employment benefits or the introduction of new benefits,
and the cost of curtailments, recognised under "Provisions or reversal of provisions".

@ Any gain or loss arising on settlement of a plan is recognised in "Provisions or reversal of provisions".

B The net interest on the net defined benefit post-employment benefit liability/(asset), understood to be the change during the
period in the net defined benefit liability/(asset) that arises from the passage of time, is recognised in "Interest expense", or
"Interest income" if it results in income, in the statement of profit or loss.

B Remeasurements of the net liability/(asset) for defined benefit post-employment benefits are recognised in "Accumulated
other comprehensive income" in the balance sheet. It includes:

@ Actuarial gains and losses arising in the period from differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred and from changes in the actuarial assumptions used.

@ The return on plan assets, excluding the amounts included in the net interest on the liability/(asset) for defined benefit
post-employment benefits.
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@ Any change in the impact of the asset ceiling, excluding the amounts included in the net interest on the liability/(asset) for
defined benefit post-employment benefits.

In addition to the accounting policy change stated in Note 1, the accounting recognition criterion of the actuarial gains and losses
on equity deriving from the measurement of the assets and liabilities to the Group's pension commitments have been amended
during 2019. Following on from this, the actuarial losses and gains previously recognised under the heading “Shareholders' equity -
Retained earnings” and “Shareholders' equity - Other reserves” are now shown under the heading “Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income — Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension
plans”.

Other long-term employee benefits

Other long term employee benefits, understood as obligations with pre-retired employees (those who have ceased rendering
services but who, without being legally retired, continue to enjoy economic rights vis-a-vis the Entity until they acquire the status of
legally retired), long-service bonuses and similar items, are treated for accounting purposes, where applicable, as established for
defined benefit post-employment plans, except that the actuarial gains and losses are recognised in "Provisions or reversal of
provisions" in the statement of profit or loss.

Termination benefits

These benefits are payable as a result of an Entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement
date, a valid expectation raised in the employee or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those
benefits.

A liability and an expense for termination benefits are recognised when there is no realistic possibility of withdrawing the offer to
pay the termination benefits or when the costs for restructuring — which involves the payment of termination benefits — are
recognised. These amounts are recognised as a provision under "Provisions — Other long-term employee benefits” in the balance
sheet until they are settled.

In the case of payments of over 12 months, the same treatment is applied as for the other long-term employee benefits.

2.13. Income tax

The expense for Spanish income tax is considered to be a current expense and is recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
except when it results from a transaction recognised directly in equity, in which case the corresponding tax effect is recognised in
equity.

Income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax for the year resulting from applying the tax rate to the taxable profit
for the year and any changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the year in the statement of profit or loss, less any
allowable tax deductions.

Temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards pending offset and unused tax deductions are recognised as deferred tax assets
and/or deferred tax liabilities. The amounts are recognised at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled.

All tax assets are recognised under “Tax assets” in the balance sheet as current, for amounts to be recovered in the next 12
months, or deferred, for amounts to be recovered in future reporting periods.

Similarly, tax liabilities are recognised in “Tax liabilities" in the balance sheet, also by current and deferred. Current tax liabilities
include the amount of tax payable within the next 12 months and deferred tax liabilities as the amount expected to be paid in
future periods.

Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures are not
recognised when the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and, in addition, it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be reversed in the foreseeable future and it is estimated
that there is sufficient taxable profit against which they can be used.
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2.14. Tangible assets

Property, plant and equipment for own use

They include the amount of property, land, furniture, vehicles, IT equipment and other facilities owned or acquired under a lease,
as well as assets leased out under and operating lease.

Property, plant and equipment for own use includes assets held by the Group for present or future administrative uses or for the
production or supply of goods and services that are expected to be used over more than one financial period.

Investment property

It reflects the carrying amounts of land, buildings and other constructions — including those received by the Bank for the total or
partial settlement of financial assets that represent collection rights vis-a-vis third parties — owned to obtain rental income or gains
through sale.

Tangible assets are generally stated at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses determined by
comparing the carrying amount of each item to its recoverable amount.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets less their net carrying
value. Land is not depreciated since it is considered to have an indefinite life.

The depreciation charge is recognised with a balancing entry under “Depreciation and amortisation” in the statement of profit or
loss and is calculated basically using the depreciation rates set out in the table below, which are based on the years of estimated
useful life of the various assets.

USEFUL LIFE OF TANGIBLE ASSETS
(Years)

ESTIMATED USEFU
LIFE

Constructions

Buildings 16 - 50
Facilities 8-25
Furniture and fixtures 4-50
Electronic equipment 3-8
Other 7-14

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses tangible assets for any indications that their net carrying amount exceeds
their recoverable amount, understood as fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Any impairment loss determined is recognised with a charge to “Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on non-financial assets —
Tangible assets” in the statement of profit or loss and a reduction to the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable amount.
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation charges for the asset in future periods are adjusted in proportion to
its revised carrying amount and remaining useful life.

Similarly, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the impairment loss recorded in prior
periods is recognised and the depreciation charge for the asset in future periods is adjusted. In no circumstances may the reversal
of an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have if no impairment losses had been
recognised in prior years.

Likewise, the estimated useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed each year or whenever indications are noted which make it
advisable to do so and, where appropriate, the depreciation charges are adjusted in the statement of profit or loss of future years.

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognised under “Administrative expenses — Other administrative expenses” in the
statement of profit or loss. Similarly, operating income from investment properties is recognised under “Other operating income”
in the statement of profit or loss and the related operating expenses under “Other operating expenses”.
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2.15. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance acquired from third parties or developed
internally.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets that are not capable
of being individually identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is only recognised in the acquisition of a business combination
for valuable consideration.

In business combinations, goodwill arises as the positive difference between:

B the consideration transferred plus, as appropriate, the fair value of any previously-held equity interest in the acquiree and the
amount of minority interests; and
B the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired less the liabilities assumed.

Goodwill is recognised in "Intangible assets — Goodwill" and is not amortised.

At the end of each reporting period or whenever there are indications of impairment, an estimate is made of any impairment that
reduces the recoverable amount to below carrying amount and, where there is impairment, the goodwill is written down with a
balancing entry in "Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on non-financial assets — Intangible assets" in the statement of profit or
loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period.

Other intangible assets

This includes the amount of other identifiable intangible assets, such as assets arising in business combinations and computer
software.

Other intangible assets have an indefinite useful life when, based on an analysis of all the relevant factors, it is concluded that there
is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group, and a finite useful
life in all other cases.

Intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortised. However, at the end of each reporting period, or whenever there is any
indication of impairment, the remaining useful lives of the assets are reviewed in order to determine whether they continue to be
indefinite and, if this is not the case, to take the appropriate steps.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over the useful life, applying policies similar to those followed for the
depreciation of tangible assets.

Any impairment losses on assets with either indefinite or finite useful lives are recognised with a balancing entry in
“Impairment/(reversal) of impairment on non-financial assets — Intangible assets” in the statement of profit or loss. The policies for
recognising impairment losses on these assets and for reversing impairment losses recognised in prior years are similar to those for
tangible assets.

Software

Software is recognised as an intangible asset when, among other requirements, it is capable of being used or sold, and it is
identifiable and its ability to generate future economic benefits can be demonstrated.

Expenses incurred during the research phase are recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss for the period in which they
are incurred, and cannot subsequently be capitalised.

Almost all software recorded under this chapter of the balance sheet has been developed by third parties and is amortised with an
average useful life of between 4 and 15 years.
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2.16. Inventories

This item in the balance sheet includes non-financial assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business, that are in the process

of production, construction or development for such sale, or that are to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost, including borrowing costs, and net realisable value. Net realisable value is defined as
the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of production and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The
accounting principles and measurement bases applied to assets received as payments of debts classified under this item are the
same as those set out in Note 2.17. These assets are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and of goods and services produced and segregated for
specific projects is determined individually, while the cost of other inventories is assigned mainly by using the First-In-First-Out
method (FIFO) or weighted average cost formula, as appropriate.

Any write-downs to inventories or subsequent reversals of write-downs are recognised under “Impairment/(reversal) of
impairment on non-financial assets — Other” in the statement of profit or loss for the year in which the write-down or reversal
occurs.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is derecognised and an expense recognised in the statement
of profit or loss for the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The expense is recognised under “Other operating
expenses” in the statement of profit or loss.

2.17. Non-current assets and disposal
groups classified as held for sale and

liabilities included in disposal groups
classified as held for sale

Assets recognised under this heading in the balance sheet reflect the carrying amount of individual assets or disposal groups, or
assets that form part of a line of business that will be disposed of (discontinued operation) whose sale is highly probable in their
present condition within one year from the reporting date. Assets that will be disposed of within a year but where disposal is
delayed by events and circumstances beyond the Group’s control may also be classified as held for sale, when there is sufficient
evidence that the Company is still committed to selling them. The carrying amount of these assets will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction.

Specifically, real estate or other non-current assets received as total or partial settlement of debtors’ payment obligations in credit
operations are recognised under "Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale" unless it has been decided to
make continuing use of the assets.

The Group has centralised the ownership of virtually all the real estate assets acquired or foreclosed in payment of debts in its
subsidiary BuildingCenter, SAU, in a bid to optimise management.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are generally measured initially at the lower of the carrying amount of the financial
assets and their fair value less costs to sell the asset to be foreclosed:

B To estimate provisions for the financial assets, the estimated fair value less the costs to sell the asset to be foreclosed are
taken as the recoverable value of the guarantee when the Company’s sales experience attests to its ability to realise this asset
at fair value. This recalculated carrying amount is compared with the previous carrying amount and the difference is
recognised as an increase or a release of provisions as appropriate.

B To determine the fair value less the costs to sell the asset to be foreclosed, the Company uses the market value extended in
the full individual ECO appraisal at the time of foreclosure or reception. Internal valuation models are used to calculate the
adjustment to be applied to this market value in order to estimate the discount on the reference price and the costs to sell.
These in-house models factor in prior sales experience for similar assets in terms of price and volume.
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When the fair value less costs to sell exceeds the carrying amount, the Group recognises the difference in the statement of profit or
loss, as an impairment reversal, up to the limit of the impairment accumulated as from the initial recognition of the foreclosed
asset.

After the initial recognition, the Group compares the carrying amount with the fair value less costs to sell, recognising any possible
additional impairment in the statement of profit or loss. For this purpose, the main valuation used to estimate fair value is updated
by the Group. In line with the procedure followed in the initial recognition process, the Group also applies an adjustment, based on
the internal models, to the main valuation.

Impairment losses on an asset or disposal group are recognised under "Profit/(loss) from non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations, net" in the statement of profit or loss. Gains on a non-current
asset held for sale resulting from subsequent increases in fair value (less costs to sell) increase its carrying amount and are
recognised in the same statement of profit or loss item up to an amount equal to the previously recognised impairment losses.

Non-current assets held for sale are not depreciated while they are classified as held for sale.
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2.18. Leases

The means of identifying and accounting for leasing operations in which the Group acts as lessor or lessee, are set out below:
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2.19. Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits. Contingent assets are not recognised in financial statements, except where an inflow of economic benefits is practically
certain. If there is a probable inflow of economic benefits, the group discloses the contingent asset.

Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately reflected in the financial statements.

2.20. Contingent liabilities and provisions

Provisions cover present obligations at the date of preparation of the financial statements arising from past events which could give
rise to a loss considered likely to occur; and is certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing.

The financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which it is considered more likely than not that the
obligation will have to be settled. Provisions are recognised on the liability side of the balance sheet in accordance with the
obligations covered.

Provisions, which are quantified based on the best information available on the consequences of the event giving rise to them and
are re-estimated at the end of each reporting period, are used for specific expenditures for which the provision was originally
recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed when the obligations cease to exist or are reduced.

The tax contingency policy is to set aside provisions for the possible tax expense and late-payment interest arising from the income
tax assessments initiated by the tax authorities for the main applicable taxes, irrespective of whether an appeal has been lodged.
Meanwhile, provisions are made for legal suits, in those instances where there is over a 50% probability of losing the case.

When there are present obligations but they are not likely to give rise to an outflow of resources, they are recorded as contingent
liabilities. Contingent liabilities may develop in a way not initially expected. Therefore, they are assessed continually to determine
whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes more probable than not that
an outflow of future economic benefits will be required, a provision is recognised in the balance sheet.

Provisions are recognised under "Provisions" on the liability side of the balance sheet in accordance with the obligations covered.
Contingent liabilities are recognised under memorandum items in the balance sheet.

2.21. Insurance operations

The Group's insurance companies (VidaCaixa and BPI Vida y Pensiones) have made use of the temporary exemption from IFRS 9,
which is why its financial instruments are presented in accordance with IAS 39 in the heading "Assets under the insurance business"
of the accompanying balance sheet (see Notes 1 and 17).

Financial instruments

Classification of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are presented in the balance sheet, grouped in the section "Assets under the insurance business" in different
categories in which they are classified for management and assessment purposes, and which are described below:

B "Financial assets and liabilities held for trading": This item mainly comprises financial assets or liabilities acquired or issued for
the purpose of selling in the short term or which are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments managed together
and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking. Financial liabilities held for trading also
comprise short positions arising from sales of assets acquired temporarily under a non-optional reverse repurchase agreement
or borrowed securities. Also included as financial assets or liabilities held for trading are derivative assets and liabilities that do
not meet the definition of a financial guarantee contract and have not been designated as hedging instruments.

B 'Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss": includes, where applicable, financial
instruments designated upon initial recognition, e.g. hybrid financial assets or liabilities mandatorily measured in full at fair
value, or with financial derivatives, the purpose of which is to mitigate the exposure to changes in fair value, or managed as a
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group with financial liabilities and derivatives to mitigate the overall exposure to interest rate risk. In general, the category
includes all financial assets and liabilities when such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency (accounting mismatches) that would otherwise arise. Financial instruments in this category must be
subject at all times to an integrated and consistent measurement system, management and control of risks and returns
permitting verification that risk has effectively been mitigated. Financial assets and liabilities may only be included in this
category on the date they are acquired or originated.

B "Available-for-sale financial assets": includes debt securities and equity instruments not classified under any of the preceding
categories.

B "Loans and receivables": includes financing granted to third parties through ordinary lending and credit activities carried out
by said subsidiaries, their receivables from policyholders and for debt securities not quoted in an active market.

Measurement of the financial assets

All financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value, which, unless there is evidence to the contrary, is the transaction
price.

Subsequently, at a specified date, the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The most objective reference for the fair
value of a financial instrument is the price that would be paid for it on an active, transparent and deep market. Accordingly, the
quoted or market price is used.

If there is no market price, fair value is estimated on the basis of the price established in recent transactions involving similar
instruments and, in the absence thereof, of valuation techniques commonly used by the international financial community, always
taking into account the specific features of the instrument to be measured and, in particular, the various types of risk associated
with it.

Any changes in fair value of financial instruments, except for trading derivatives, due to the accrual of interest and similar items,
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss of the year of the accrual. Dividends received from other companies are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss of the year in which the right to receive the dividend is established.

Changes in fair value after initial recognition for reasons other than those indicated in the preceding paragraph are treated as
described below based on the category of financial asset or financial liability:

”n o

B Financial instruments classified as “Financial assets held for trading”, “Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss”, “Financial liabilities held for trading” and “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss” are
measured initially at fair value, with any changes in fair value recognised with a balancing entry in the statement of profit or
loss.

B In turn, financial instruments classified as "Available-for-sale financial assets" are initially measured at fair value, with
subsequent changes, net of the related tax effect, recognised with a balancing entry in "Equity — Accumulated other
comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Available-for-sale financial assets” and “Equity —
Accumulated other comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Foreign currency exchange” in
the balance sheet.

B Derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value. When derivatives are entered into, in the absence of evidence to
the contrary, fair value is the transaction price. The derivative is recognised as an asset if the fair value is positive and a liability
if it is negative. For derivatives classified in Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy (see section on "Fair value of financial
instruments" of this Note), if the price differs from the fair value when the derivative is entered into, the difference is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except with cash flow hedges,
in which case they are recognised under "Equity — Accumulated other comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss — Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or in other contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks
and characteristics are not closely related to those of the instrument or host contract, provided a reliable fair value can be
attributed to the embedded derivative taken separately.
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B Financial instruments classified as “Loans and receivables” and “Financial liabilities at amortised cost” are measured at
amortised cost. Amortised cost is acquisition cost, minus principal repayments and plus or minus the cumulative amortisation
(as reflected in the statement of profit or loss by the effective interest rate method) of any difference between the initial
amount and the maturity amount. And, in the case of assets, minus any allowances for impairment.

The effective interest rate is the discount rate that exactly equates the initial value of a financial instrument to the estimated cash
flows for all items until the instrument matures or is cancelled. For fixed-rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate
coincides with the contractual interest rate plus any commission or transaction costs included in its yield. Where the fixed rate of
interest is contingent, the Group includes it in the estimate of the effective interest rate only if it is highly probable that the
triggering event will be reached. For floating-rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate is calculated as a fixed rate until
the next reference rate reset.

Reclassifications between financial instrument portfolios

At the close of the financial year, the amounts of financial assets under IAS 39 processing reclassified in previous financial years
were not significant.

Impairment of financial assets (IAS 39)

A financial asset is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence of an adverse impact on the future cash flows that
were estimated at the transaction date, where the borrower is unable or will be unable to meet its obligations in time or form, or
when the asset’s carrying amount may not be fully recovered. However, a decline in fair value to below the cost of acquisition is
not in itself evidence of impairment.

As a general rule, the carrying amount of impaired financial instruments is adjusted with a charge to “Impairment or reversal of
impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss and net profit or loss due to a change” in the
statement of profit or loss for the period in which the impairment becomes evident. The reversal, if any, of previously recognised
impairment losses is recognised in the same item in the statement of profit or loss for the period in which the impairment no
longer exists or has decreased.

For the case of debt instruments at amortised cost, the categories specified in section 2.7 remain, although the calculation of the
hedges is based on the provisions of IAS 39. The calculated hedging or provision is defined as the difference between the gross
carrying amount of the transaction and the estimated value of future expected cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the transaction. Effective guarantees received are taken into consideration. For the purposes of estimating hedging,
the amount of the risk for debt instruments is the gross carrying amount, and for off-balance exposures, the estimated value of the
disbursements.

Both transactions classified as not bearing appreciable risk and those that, due to their type of collateral, are classified as not
bearing appreciable risk, could have 0% hedging. This percentage will only be applied to the hedged risk.

The accounting policy referring to the recognition of losses due to impairment of the categories of available-for-sale instruments is
described below:

B Debt securities classified as available for sale: the market value of quoted debt securities is deemed to be a reliable estimate of
the present value of their future cash flows.

When there is objective evidence that the negative differences arising on measurement of these assets are due to impairment,
they are removed from “Equity — Accumulated other comprehensive income — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss —
Available-for-sale financial assets” and the cumulative amount considered impaired at that date is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. If all or part of the impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversed amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss for the period in which the reversal occurs.

B Equity instruments classified as available for sale: When there is objective evidence of impairment, such as a fall of 40% of its
fair value or a situation of continued losses over a period of more than 18 months, the unrealised losses are recognised in
accordance with the impairment loss recognition criteria applied to debt securities classified as available for sale, with the
exception that any recovery arising on these losses is recognised under “Equity — Accumulated other comprehensive income —
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Available-for-sale financial assets”.

When testing for impairment, the Group considers whether there are any legal, market, technological or other factors in the
environment in which the assessed entity operates that could suggest the cost of the investment will not be recovered. The
price volatility of each security is also individually considered to determine what share may be recovered through the sale
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thereof on the market. These considerations may result in different thresholds for certain securities or sectors to those
mentioned in the previous paragraph.

B Equity instruments measured at cost: the impairment loss on equity instruments measured at cost is the positive difference
between the carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the market rate of return
for similar securities. In estimating the impairment of this type of asset, account is taken of the equity of the investee, except
for “Accumulated other comprehensive income” due to cash flow hedges, determined on the basis of the latest approved
balance sheet, adjusted for the unrealised gains at the measurement date. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss for the period in which they arose, as a direct reduction of the cost of the instrument.

Assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts

Furthermore, the chapter "Assets under the insurance business — under insurance and reinsurance contracts" of the balance sheet
also covers the amounts that the consolidated companies have the right to receive that originate from reinsurance contracts that
they hold with third parties, and more specifically, the share of the reinsurance in the technical provisions constituted by the
consolidated insurance companies.

Insurance contract liabilities

The chapter "Liabilities under the insurance business" of the balance sheet covers the technical provisions of the direct insurance
and of the accepted reinsurance recorded by the consolidated companies to cover the obligations originating from insurance
contracts that they hold that are in force at the close of the period. The main components of technical provisions are as follows:

B Unconsumed premiums and risk in progress:

@ The provision for unearned premiums includes the proportion of premiums written in the year that must be allocated to
the period between the close of the reporting period and the expiry of the policy period.

@ The provision for unexpired risks is designed to complement the provision for unearned premiums by the amount which
is not sufficient to cover the measurement of all the risks and expenses corresponding to the coverage period not elapsed
at the end of the period.

B Life insurance provision: consists mainly of the mathematical provisions of the insurance contracts and the provision for
unearned premiums of insurance contracts with a period of coverage equal to or less than one year. Mathematical provisions
represent the excess of the current actuarial value of the future obligations of subsidiary insurance companies over that of the
premiums which the policyholder must satisfy.

B Relating to life insurance when the policyholder assumes the investment risk: they correspond to the technical provisions of
insurance contracts where the investment risk is born by the policyholder.

B Claims: this represents the total amount of outstanding liabilities on claims occurring before the end of the reporting period.
The Group calculates this provision as the difference between the total estimated or exact cost of the claims that have
occurred and are pending declaration, settlement or payment, including external and internal expenses for handling and
processing the files, and the combined amount of the amounts already paid as a result of the claims.

B Provisions for bonuses and rebates: these include the benefits accrued to the policyholders or beneficiaries and not yet
assigned at the end of the reporting period. Not included is the effect of allocating part of the unrealised gains on the
investment portfolio to policyholders.

Technical provisions linked to risks assigned to reinsurers are calculated on the basis of the reinsurance contracts entered into and
by applying criteria similar to those used for direct insurance.

Additionally, the Group has applied the accounting option provided for in IFRS 4 named "shadow accounting", whereby the insurer
is permitted to change its accounting policies so that a recognised but unrealised gain or loss on an asset related to insurance
contracts affects those measurements of liabilities under insurance contracts in the same way as a realised gain or loss does. The
related adjustment to the insurance liability (or deferred acquisition costs or intangible assets) shall be recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in other comprehensive income if, and only if, the unrealised gains or losses are recorded in other recognised
income and expense.

The Group carries out an annual liability adequacy test in order to identify any provision shortfall and to make the related provision.
Otherwise, if the result of the liability adequacy test shows that the provisions recognised were adequate or that excess provisions
were recognised, the Group adopts the principle of prudence as established in IFRS 4. The liability adequacy test consists of
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assessing liabilities under insurance contracts based on the most up-to-date estimates of future cash flows from their contracts in
relation to the assets covered. In this respect, it determines:

B The difference between the carrying amount of the insurance contracts less any related deferred acquisition costs and any
related intangible assets, and the present value of contractual cash flows from the insurance contracts and any related cash
flows, such as claims handling costs, as well as cash flows resulting from embedded options and guarantees.

B The difference between the carrying amount and the present value of projected cash flows from the financial assets related to
the insurance contracts.

The future estimated cash flows arising from insurance contracts and affected financial assets are discounted subject to a yield
curve of assets with high credit quality (Spanish sovereign debt). In order to estimate future cash flows arising from insurance
contracts, the surrender rates observed in the portfolio in accordance with the average over the last three years for Pension 2000
and PPA, and the average observed over the last five years for other products are taken into consideration. In addition, sensitivity
exercises are carried out with regard to the discount curve used. This sensitivity analysis consists of entering a drop in the interest
rate of 100, 150 and 200 basis points of the discount curve used, and an increase of 80, 100 and 200 basis points.

The Group does not unbundle any deposit component of insurance contracts. This unbundling is voluntary. In addition, the fair
value of the policyholders’ option to surrender insurance contracts is estimated to be zero, otherwise it is measured as part of the
value of the insurance contract liabilities.

2.22. Statement of cash flows

B Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid investments that are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

The following terms are used in the presentation of the statement of cash flows:

B Operating activities: the indirect method is used to present cash flows from operating activities, which are the principal
revenue-producing activities of credit institutions and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.

B Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or other disposal of long-term assets, such as equity investments and strategic
investments, and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

B Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities that do not form part of
operating activities, such as subordinated financial liabilities. The issues placed on the institutional market are classified as
financing activities, whereas the issues placed on the Spanish retail market are classified as operating activities.

2.23. Statement of changes in equity. Part
A) Statement of recognised income and

expense

This statement presents the income and expense recognised as a result of the Group’s activity in the period, with a distinction
between those taken to profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income directly in equity.
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2.24. Statement of changes in equity.
Part B) Statement of total changes in

equity

This statement presents all changes in the Group’s consolidated equity, including those due to accounting policy changes and error
corrections. This statement presents a reconciliation between the carrying amount of each component of equity at the beginning
and the end of the period, grouping movements by nature under the following headings:

Adjustments due to accounting policy changes and error corrections: includes changes in equity as a result of the retrospective
restatement of financial statement balances on account of changes in accounting policies or for correction of errors.

Total comprehensive income: represents the aggregate of all items recognised in the statement of changes in equity part A)
Comprehensive income, outlined above.

Other changes in equity: includes the remaining items recognised in equity, such as capital increases or decreases, distribution
of dividends, treasury share transactions, equity-based payments, transfers between equity items, and any other increase or
decrease in equity.

Particularly, the headings 'Accumulated gains' and 'Other reserves' contain:

The shareholder equity heading, 'Accumulated gains', includes, at year-end, undistributed gains from the appropriation of the
profit/loss of the companies of the consolidated group, and income coming from the sale of investments classified in 'Financial
assets at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income — Equity instruments', among others.

The shareholder equity heading, 'Other reserves', includes, at year-end, the implications of the 1st application of accounting
regulations, the application of the profit/(loss) of companies consolidated using the equity accounting method, net of the
dividends distributed to companies of the consolidated group, the remuneration of issuances with certain characteristics, and
gains/losses deriving from operations with own shares, among others.
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3. Risk management

°
3.1 Risk factors and environment

The following risk factors had a significant influence on the Group's management in 2019, due to their impact during the year and
their long-term implications for the Group:

B Macroeconomic environment
@ Global economy

In 2019, the global economy has faced a considerable surge in uncertainty due to economic and geopolitical factors
which, to a great extent, were already in operation in 2018. In terms of the economy, firstly, the doubts cast surrounding
the speed and risks entailing the slowdown of the Chinese economy have featured prominently. Up to now, this
slowdown has been gradual and the authorities still have mechanisms to temper its intensity. However, there are still
concerns regarding the imbalances afflicting Spain. Similarly, the economic downturn experienced by the main developed
economies results in a second factor burdening growth. This dynamic comes, on one hand, from the maturity of the
economic cycle and, on the other hand, from idiosyncratic factors belonging to each country. Thus, in the US, the gradual
fading of the boost from tax measures implemented at the end of 2017 and the start of 2018 is beginning to show in the
economy. In the Eurozone, the manufacturing sector, and in particular the automobile sector, continues to undergo
complicated circumstances.

The US's protectionist swing, which has remained active throughout 2019, has featured notably on the geopolitical front.
Similarly, there has been a slight rise in tensions between the US and the European Union (EU) after the World Trade
Organization's ruling in favour of the US with regard to a case of public aid granted to Airbus by the EU, which has
enabled the US to impose tariffs on a range of European products. Nonetheless, it is worth stating that at the end of the
year a trade agreement between the US and China now looks more likely, although only following a tough and lengthy
negotiation phase that is bound to generate uncertainty until an agreement is hammered out.

These risk sources are reflected in the behaviour of the financial markets which, after the strong juncture of volatility
experienced at the end of 2018, showed new aversion to risk in the summer, when the stock exchanges of the main
developed economies fell due to poor financial data and to the worsening of commercial activity between the US and
China. In such a context, and faced with the outlook of a more accommodative monetary policy that is sensitive to risk
balance worsening, the interest rates of sovereign bonds fell significantly (to all-time lows in the case of Europe).

@ Eurozone

The Eurozone's risk context has been marked by geopolitical factors, mainly linked to the difficulties of reaching an
agreement for the United Kingdom's withdrawal. These political uncertainties come in addition to the economic
downturn that began in 2018, which has been exacerbated in 2019, partly due to the aforementioned plight suffered by
the manufacturing sector and the automobile sector, in particular. Thus, after growing 1.9% in 2018, it is estimated that
the sector will have only grown 1.1% in 2019 and that it will maintain a similar pace in 2020.

In the face of this context of a downturn in macroeconomic conditions, the main central banks have repositioned their
monetary policies. Thus, given that inflationary pressures are relatively contained within the US, and faced with the
outlook of an economic downturn, the Federal Reserve cut rates three times throughout 2019 and, furthermore, in order
to stall possible cash-flow problems on the market, initiated new bond purchases. The ECB launched a new stimulus
package in September 2019, with a 10-bp reduction in the deposit rate (supplemented by a tiering system), new bond
purchases (EUR 20 billion a month), lower interest rates for TLTROs (operations offering long-term financing to the
financial sector) and it was stated that the stimulus will continue until inflation approaches its target. Although the
measures are of a lower magnitude than those of the past, they emphasise that the environment of low rates will be
extended for a long period of time.

L g Spain

In 2019, the Spanish economy's growth rate has maintained the trend it began in 2018, and continues along a slight
reduction (although it remains above the Eurozone's average rate of growth). Thus, Spain's economy has grown 2.0% in
2019 and GDP is expected to rise by 1.5% in 2020. The reason for this slowdown is, on one hand, the aforementioned
decline in the international outlook, which has effected the performance of external demand, and, on the other hand,
lower growth of domestic demand, as a result of the behaviour of consumers who are warier about the macroeconomic
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outlook. Similarly, public finances have continued to improve: the public deficit stood at 2.5% of GDP in 2018, a drop of
half a point in a year, which brought Spain out of its excessive deficit situation, with the forecast further 2-tenth reduction
for cyclical effects this year. However, public debt remains at high levels, close to 100% of the GDP. As this is an overview,
it is worth stating that the downside risks surrounding the macroeconomic scenario are not insignificant. Those present in
the international setting — such as the trade disputes between the US and China, and the UK's withdrawal process from
the EU — feature most prominently. In Spain, the formation of a new coalition government after a year dominated by
election dates represents a factor of stability.

@ Portugal

The Portuguese economy has slowed down to a certain extent due to reduced internal demand, in such a way that the
growth rate for the whole of 2019 was 1.9%, slightly lower than in 2018 (2.4%). Nonetheless, the overall assessment of
the Portuguese financial situation remains positive: the public accounts continue to improve, the job market is
prospering, and consumer confidence remains at high levels. The good performance of the economy is reflected in the
country's risk premium, which has fallen significantly in 2019. As regards the political arena, the Socialist Party won the
elections on 6 October 2019 without reaching an absolute majority. It is expected that economic policy will be a
continuation of the previous administration, and thus that public accounts will continue to improve. With this
undercurrent, the strong growth rate shown by the real estate market is a source of concern. Although most indicators
forecast a gradual moderation, given the importance of non-residents for the sector, the possibility of a sharper
correction in the event that the declining international environment generates a risk aversion juncture entailing a
withdrawal of foreign investment should not be ruled out.

B Regulatory changes

The regulatory outline on which the Group's business model lies is crucial to its development, whether in terms of
methodological or management processes. Thus, regulatory analysis represents a key point in the Group's agenda.

The main developments and enquiries open in the field of risks during 2019 are shown below:

A On 21 February 2019 the Congress of Deputies approved the Property Credit Contract Regulatory Act (Ley 5/2019
reguladora de los contratos de crédito inmobiliario — LCl), reducing the expenses associated with changes in mortgage
contracts and establishing measures to improve transparency in the conditions. Thus, the process of transposing the
Directive 2014/17/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council closed of 4 February 2014. Similarly, on 26 April the
Ministry of Economy and Business completed the CLI with the approval of a Royal Decree and a Ministerial Order!
developing aspects as the transparency of information; calculating the financial loss and reference indexes and rates to
apply; the training and skills requirements of commercial staff; and the criteria applicable to related marketing.

CaixaBank — in due time and in a suitable manner — has fulfilled the appropriate measures, carrying out necessary
adjustments to internal procedures and standards, and suitably training personnel in order to ensure the correct
marketing of the products affected under the standard (see section 3.2.3. Risk Culture).

A Approval and publication in the Official Journal of the European Union (0J) of the “Proposal of CRDV Package”: once the
trilogue was completed during first few months of the year, the review started in November 2016 by the European
Commission of the “banking package” that covers the texts CRD V, CRR II, BRRD Il and SRMR Il was approved on 16 April
in the plenary session of the European Parliament2. The review basically transposes the standards agreed by the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision (prior to the 2017 agreement on the completion of Basel Ill, the adaptation of which
has begun to be addressed as of the second half of 2019). This legislative package entered into force on 27 June 2019,
with December 2020 as the deadline for Spain to transpose the directives, whilst the majority of changes included in the
CRR Il are applicable from June 2021 (December 2020 in the case of the SRMR I1).

A Brexit, Contingency Action Plan: the Agreement on the Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union, of
24 January 2020, entered into force on 1 February 2020. The treaty established a transition period until 31 December
2020, during which EU legislation will still be applied in the United Kingdom and allowing activities to continue with this

1 Royal Decree 309/2019, of 26 April, which partially enacts Act 5/2019, of 15 March, which governs real estate credit contracts and adopts other
financial measures,